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Corporate Information

QNAEHR
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Cayman Islands
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8 Connaught Place

Central, Hong Kong
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Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.
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HONG KONG

Tricor Secretaries Limited
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WEBSITE
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEEFNWR DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group's consolidated net profit for the year was approximately
HK$327.4 million (2012: net loss of HK$637.9 million). The
consolidated net assets of the Group increased from approximately
HK$1,951.4 million as at 31 March 2012 to approximately
HK$2,499.9 million as at 31 March 2013. The consolidated net profit
was mainly attributable to (i) realised and unrealised gains from
securities trading business; (ii) net gains on changes in shareholding
interests in associates; and (iii) share of profits of associates.

In April 2012, Cordoba Homes Limited (“Cordoba”), in which the
Group owned approximately 5.26% shareholding interest and
accounted for as an available-for-sale investment as at 31 March
2012, underwent a reorganization (“Cordoba Reorganization”)
pursuant to which each of the then shareholders of Cordoba
exchanged its shares in Cordoba for the same amount of shares in
HEC Capital Limited (“HEC"), a special purpose vehicle formed as the
holding company of Cordoba incorporated in the Cayman lIslands.
Upon completion of Cordoba Reorganization, the Group owned
approximately 5.26% shareholding interest in HEC.

In May 2012, Allied Weli Development Limited (“Allied Weli”), a
former associate of the Group, underwent a reorganization (the
“Reorganization”) without Allied Weli shareholders’ involvement,
pursuant to which the Group’s shares in Allied Weli were cancelled
and exchanged for the same amount of shares in HEC. Upon
completion of the Reorganization, the Group owned approximately
27.70% shareholding interest in HEC. Subsequent to further
share transactions underwent by HEC during the year, the Group’s
shareholding interest in HEC was further diluted to approximately
19.57% as at 31 March 2013.

The Company completed a rights issue and issued 2,451,124,742
new shares with par value of HK$0.01 each at a subscription price of
HK$0.10 each in May 2012 and raised net proceeds of approximately
HK$239.2 million. In July 2012, the Company also completed a share
consolidation to consolidate every five issued and unissued shares of
HK$0.01 each into one consolidated share of HK$0.05 each.

In September 2012, Freeman Corporate Finance Limited, a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company with principal activity in the
provision of corporate finance advisory services, obtained the license
of type 6 (Advising on Corporate Finance) regulated activity under
the Securities and Futures Ordinance from the Securities and Futures
Commission and commenced business since then.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

In December 2012, the Company announced its intention to effect
a capital reorganisation (”Capital Reorganisation”) which included
a share consolidation of every ten shares with par value of HK$0.05
each into one consolidated share with par value of HK$0.50 and a
capital reduction to reduce the par value of the consolidated share
from HK$0.50 each to HK$0.01 each by cancellation of the paid-
up capital to the extent of HK$0.49 on each consolidated share.
The Capital Reorganisation became effective in May 2013. The
authorised share capital of the Company of HK$5,000,000,000
divided into 100,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.05 each was adjusted
to 500,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each upon completion of
Capital Reorganisation.

In December 2012, the Company also announced its intention
to conduct a rights issue (“Rights Issue”) and proposed to issue
191,187,728 rights shares at a subscription price of HK$0.85 per
rights share. Total net proceeds of approximately HK$155.9 million
are expected to be raised from the Rights Issue. The Rights Issue has
not yet completed up to the date of this annual report.

In March 2013, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement (“FSL Acquisition Agreement”) with an independent
third party to acquire approximately 8.77% shareholding interest in
Freeman Securities Limited (“FSL Acquisition”). According to the FSL
Acquisition Agreement, the consideration for the FSL Acquisition
was HK$16,140,000, and was satisfied by a sum of HK$5,115,000
in cash and 105,000,000 new shares of the Company with par value
of HK$0.05 each. Freeman Securities Limited (“FSL") is a subsidiary
of the Company with principal activities in the provision of securities
brokerage services and trading of securities. The FSL Acquisition
was completed in late March 2013 and FSL became a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company as at 31 March 2013.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Turnover from continuing operations significantly increased by
approximately 760.2% to HK$75.7 million from HK$8.8 million
in 2012. Income from sale of securities included in the trading of
securities segment recorded a net profit of HK$25.6 million (2012:
net loss of HK$38.3 million) as certain listed securities were sold at
a profit. Dividend income from trading investments and an available-
for-sale investment slightly increased by approximately 2.7% to
HK$19.1 million as compared to HK$18.6 million in 2012. Loan
financing market continued to be competitive and interest income
from provision of finance decreased by approximately 58.9% to
HK$4.6 million as compared to HK$11.2 million in 2012. Income
from the financial services segment, including the services of
securities brokerage, placing, underwriting and margin financing,
was HK$23.8 million, representing an increase of approximately
78.9% as compared to HK$13.3 million in 2012 as the Group had
undertaken a number of sizeable underwriting, sub-underwriting,
placing and sub-placing transactions during the year. Insurance
brokerage income and corporate finance advisory income were not
significant for the year as the subsidiaries for insurance brokerage
segment and corporate finance advisory segment were still exploring
market opportunities and developing their businesses. The Group
recorded a net profit from discontinued operation of HK$24.1 million
in 2012 and there was no similar profit for the year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Gross profit from continuing operations was approximately HK$75.2
million (2012: HK$4.6 million), representing a substantial increase of
approximately 1,534.8% as compared to last year. It was mainly due
to increase in income from financial services and profit from sale of
securities.

Other income and gains from continuing operations increased
by approximately 624.4% to HK$59.4 million for the year (2012:
HK$8.2 million) which was mainly attributable to the net gain on
changes in shareholding interests in associates of HK$39.2 million
(2012: HK$1.5 million) and net gain on disposal of an available-
for-sale investment of HK$18.5 million (2012: Nil). The Group also
recorded a significant unrealised fair value gain on securities held
for trading of approximately HK$186.3 million for the year (2012:
loss of HK$463.7 million). The performance of associates improved
significantly for the year which contributed a share of profits of
HK$51.7 million (2012: loss of HK$140.8 million) to the Group.
Cost saving is a continuous aim in monitoring daily operations by
the Group. This year, general and administrative expenses from
continuing operations were HK$32.8 million, representing a decrease
of approximately 14.6% as compared to HK$38.4 million in 2012.
Finance costs increased by approximately 9.4% to HK$9.3 million
for the year (2012: HK$8.5 million) as more interest expenses were
incurred on other borrowings. During the year, all direct expenses
related to issuance of new shares were set off against the Company’s
reserve.

Net profit attributable to shareholders of the Company for the year
was approximately HK$327.5 million (2012: net loss of HK$639.2
million). Earnings per share was HK$3.56 (2012: loss per share of
HK$20.84 as restated).

DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2013 (2012: Nil).

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 March 2013, the net current assets of the Group amounted
to HK$1,381.8 million (2012: HK$896.8 million) and the current ratio
(current assets/current liabilities) was 5.3 (2012: 4.2). Cash and bank
balances were HK$180.6 million (2012: HK$235.9 million). As at 31
March 2013, the Group had secured other borrowings of HK$303.5
million (2012: HK$268.1 million). Gearing ratio, calculated on the
basis of the Group’s interest-bearing borrowings divided by the
equity attributable to owners of the Company, was 12.1% (2012:
13.9%) at the end of the reporting period. The other borrowings of
the Group carried floating interest rates calculated by reference to
the Hong Kong dollar prime rate or lender’s cost of funds and were
made in Hong Kong dollar, and the Group's exposure to foreign
exchange rate was minimal. The Group did not have any financial
instruments used for hedging purpose.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE (continued)

The Group's assets portfolio is mainly financed by its shareholders’
funds. As at 31 March 2013, the Group had shareholders’ funds
of HK$2,499.9 million (2012: HK$1,935.5 million). During the
year, the Company raised net proceeds from issue of new shares of
HK$239.2 million which were used as the general working capital
of the Company, as well as funding for the Group's securities
brokerage business, strategic investments and investments in
marketable securities. In light of the amount of liquid assets on
hand and banking facilities available, the Directors are of the view
that the Group has sufficient financial resources to meet its ongoing
operational requirements.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2013, investments held for trading of HK$1,380.0
million (2012: HK$891.1 million) and an available-for-sale investment
of HK$2.0 million (2012: HK$17.7 million) were pledged to financial
institutions to secure margin-financing facilities provided to the
Group.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS/DISPOSALS

Details of material acquisitions/disposals during the year are set out
in the section “Business Review".

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group had no material capital commitment as at 31 March 2013
(2012: Nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2012, the Group had provided guarantees to banks
in respect of mortgage loans borrowed by some property investment
subsidiaries (which were disposed by the Group in April 2011) for a
term of one year up to April 2012, and the amount then outstanding
under the mortgage loans was approximately HK$64.5 million. These
guarantees were subsequently released by the banks during the year
and the Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31 March
2013.

EMPLOYEES' REMUNERATION POLICY AND
RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

As at 31 March 2013, the Group employed 24 staff members
including directors of the Company (2012: 32 staff). Staff costs
incurred for the year, including directors’ remuneration, were
approximately HK$12.5 million (2012: HK$13.0 million). It was the
remuneration policy of the Group to reward its employees with
reference to their qualifications, experience and work performance
as well as market benchmarks. Remuneration packages, include
granting of share options, were structured to motivate individual
performance and contributions to the Group. The Company has
adopted a share option scheme and the Group operates a defined
contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for its
employees.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

In April 2013, the Group granted options to subscribe for
73,533,740 ordinary shares under the new share option scheme
adopted on 31 August 2012, and 73,533,740 new shares with
par value of HK$0.05 each were issued upon the exercise of those
options at an exercise price of HK$0.114 per share subsequent to the
year end.

In May 2013, 42,067,480 new shares with par value of HK$0.05
each were allotted and issued at a subscription price of HK$0.10
per share to independent third parties under the general mandate
granted by the shareholders of the Company to the Directors at the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 31 August 2012.

PROSPECTS

The Group continues to maintain a positive outlook on the financial
services sector. With the Group’s available resources and funding to
be raised from the Rights Issue, the Group will continue to grow its
existing businesses as well as explore investment opportunities to
capture potential upside and enhance shareholders’ returns.

APPRECIATION

The Directors would like to take this opportunity express its
gratitude and appreciation to all shareholders, business partners,
banks, professional parties and employees of the Company for their
continuous contributions and support to the Group.

By order of the Board
Freeman Financial Corporation Limited

Chow Mun Yee
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 June 2013
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lo Kan Sun (“Mr. Lo"), aged 59, joined the Company
as Executive Director in June 2008 and was re-designated as
Managing Director in November 2008. Mr. Lo was promoted as
Acting Chairman in July 2012. Mr. Lo holds a Master’'s degree
in Business Administration from Indiana University in the United
States of America (“the USA") and a Bachelor’s degree in Electrical
Engineering from University of lllinois, the USA. Mr. Lo has over 28
years of experience in finance, investment and banking in Hong Kong
and Canada.

Mr. Hui Quincy Kwong Hei (“Mr. Hui"”), aged 40, joined the
Company as General Manager in August 2010 and was re-
designated as Managing Director in September 2010. Mr. Hui holds
a Bachelor of Laws (Hons) degree and a Bachelor of Economics
degree from the University of Sydney, Australia. Mr. Hui has over 15
years of investment banking, financial services and legal experience.
Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Hui was a managing director with
Credit Suisse (Hong Kong) Limited (“Credit Suisse”). Before that, Mr.
Hui was a managing director and Head of Hong Kong Banking in
Global Banking of Deutsche Bank Group (“Deutsche Bank”). During
his service with Deutsche Bank and Credit Suisse, Mr. Hui worked
on and supervised the completion of many landmark mergers and
acquisitions and fund-raising transactions. Mr. Hui was a solicitor
with Linklaters in Hong Kong before joining Deutsche Bank, and
was admitted as solicitor of the Supreme Court of England and
Wales, legal practitioner of the Supreme Court of New South Wales,
Australia, and solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong.

Ms. Au Shuk Yee, Sue (“"Ms. Au”), aged 48, joined the Company
as Executive Director in June 2006. Ms. Au has obtained a bachelor’s
degree of science in accounting from Liberty University, Virginia and
has more than 10 years of experience in business administration
and accounting. Previously, Ms. Au was the managing director of a
telecommunication equipment manufacturing and trading company
and was the Chief Executive Officer of a listed company before
joining the Company.

Ms. Chow Mun Yee (“Ms. Chow"), aged 37, joined the Company's
accounts and company secretarial department in December 2010 and
was appointed as Executive Director in February 2011. Ms. Chow
is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and holds a Bachelor (Hons) degree in Business
Administration from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. Ms. Chow
was also appointed as Company Secretary in March 2011. Prior to
joining the Company, Ms. Chow has over 13 years of experience in
accounting and auditing at an international accounting firm and has
extensive experience in financial services, investment and property
development.

Biographical Details of Directors
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Biographical Details of Directors

EEZBAESH

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Andrew Liu (“Mr. A. Liu”), aged 57, joined the Company
as Non-executive Director in November 2010. Mr. A. Liu is a non-
executive director of Liu Chong Hing Investment Limited (“LCH
Investment”) (listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)). Mr. A. Liu is the
Chairman of Unitas Capital Pte Ltd. (formerly known as CCMP
Capital Asia Pte Ltd.). Mr. A. Liu, holder of a Master of Arts degree
from the Oxford University in England, was a solicitor with Slaughter
and May in London before joining Morgan Stanley & Co. Inc. in
New York in 1981. Mr. A. Liu was promoted to managing director
in 1990 before relocating to Morgan Stanley Asia Limited in Hong
Kong, where he assumed the position of President and managing
director until his resignation in September 1997. Mr. A. Liu remains
associated with Morgan Stanley as an advisory director. From May
1999 to December 2012, Mr. A. Liu was appointed as non-executive
director of Chong Hing Bank Limited (listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange). Mr. A. Liu is a cousin of Mr. Liu Kam Fai, Winston,
the Company’s Non-executive Director.

Mr. Liu Kam Fai, Winston (“Mr. W. Liu"”), aged 46, joined the
Company as Non-executive Director in January 2011. Mr. W. Liu was
appointed as executive director of LCH Investment since 1997 and
was redesignated as the deputy managing director in August 2008.
Mr. W. Liu holds a Master’s degree in economics from the University
of London, specialising in finance and macro-economic policy. Mr.
W. Liu oversees LCH Investment’s strategic development, project
implementation, as well as all aspects of business operations. Mr.
W. Liu also serves as a director of a number of subsidiaries of LCH
Investment. Mr. W. Liu is the son of Dr. Liu Lit Mo, LLD, MBE, JP. Mr.
W Liu is also a cousin of Mr. A. Liu, the Company’s Non-executive
Director and substantial shareholder. LCH Investment is a company
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Gary Drew Douglas (“Mr. Douglas”), aged 63, joined the
Company as Independent Non-executive Director in February 2006.
Mr. Douglas holds a Master’s Degree in Business Administration from
University of Santa Clara, the USA. Mr. Douglas has over 20 years of
professional experience in general management, IT business, project
management, and commercial and retail banking in Japan and the
USA.

Mr. Peter Temple Whitelam (“Mr. Whitelam”), aged 84, joined
the Company as Independent Non-executive Director in November
2006. Mr. Whitelam is currently the chairman of the Company’s
remuneration committee and nomination committee. Mr. Whitelam
is a specialist consultant in global branding and international
communications. After graduating from Pembroke College,
Oxford University, Mr. Whitelam joined the BBC before winning a
Fulbright Scholarship to study educational radio and television in
the United States where he gained a Master of Science degree from
Boston University. Following four years at NBCTV in New York, Mr.
Whitelam began a long career in advertising, creating national and
international campaigns for such clients as British Airways, Unilever,
Nabisco, ESPN, Colgate, Cadbury, General Motors, American
Express, Nomura Securities, and the Bank of Montreal. Mr. Whitelam
has worked as a creative strategist in Boston, New York, London,
Montreal, Toronto, Tokyo and Taiwan and received international
awards for his ideas. Recently Mr. Whitelam has been developing
brand strategies both for companies and government agencies. Mr.
Whitelam has a long time acquaintance with Asia, having visited and
worked in eight different countries in the Asia Pacific region.

Dr. Agustin V. Que (“Dr. Que”), aged 66, joined the Company
as an Independent Non-executive Director in September 2010. Dr.
Que holds Doctor of Philosophy and Master degrees in Business
Administration, both majoring in Finance, from the Wharton School
of the University of Pennsylvania in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, the
USA. Dr. Que has been involved in the field of finance for more
than 35 years as a private equity investor, merchant banking,
corporate and development finance professional in Jakarta, Hong
Kong, Singapore, Boston and Washington, District of Columbia.
Dr. Que recently returned to Manila after 15 years in Jakarta where
Dr. Que was corporate finance adviser to an Indonesian holding
company with diversified interests in agribusiness, property and
financial services. In this position, Dr. Que was responsible for
mergers and acquisitions, new investments, business development
and investment banking activities. Prior to Jakarta, Dr. Que worked
in the financial sector in Hong Kong for 12 years. Dr. Que started
his career in finance in Washington, District of Columbia, the USA
with The World Bank, over a period of 10 years. His last posting
was senior investment officer in the capital markets department of
the International Finance Corporation, The World Bank's private
investment arm.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(continued)

Mr. Frank H. Miu (“Mr. Miu"”), aged 64, joined the Company
as Independent Non-executive Director and chairman of audit
committee in December 2011. Mr. Miu holds a Juris Doctor degree
from Harvard Law School and a Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics
and Accounting from St. John's University of Minnesota. Mr. Miu is a
member of the American Bar Association and the American Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Miu is also a Fellow of Hong
Kong Institute of Directors. Apart from professional experience in law
and accounting, Mr. Miu has extensive exposure to various industries
including financial services.

Mr. Hung Cho Sing (“Mr. Hung"), aged 72, joined the Company
as Independent Non-executive Director on 9 January 2013. Mr. Hung
has over 30 years of experience in the film distribution industry and
founded Delon International Film Corporation in 1970. Mr. Hung
has been the chairman of Hong Kong, Kowloon and New Territories
Motion Picture Industry Association Limited since 1991 and was the
chairman of Hong Kong Film Awards Association Limited from 1993
to 1995. Mr. Hung was appointed by the HKSAR Government as a
member of the Hong Kong Film Development Council from 2007
to 31 March 2013. Mr. Hung was also appointed as a director of
the China Film Association since 2009. Mr. Hung is also a member
of HKSAR Election Committee and a vice-chairman of the Cultural
Profession Committee of the Guangdong, Hong Kong and Macau
Cooperation Promotion Council (ER & EEBAEERES XLE
¥ZB8gEIE1EZ 8). Mr. Hung was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia
Star (BBS) by the HKSAR Government in 2005 in recognition of
his contribution to the Hong Kong Film industry. Recently, Mr.
Hung has been appointed by the HKSAR Government as member
of the Working Group on Manufacturing Industries, Innovative
Technology, and Cultural and Creative Industries under the Economic
Development Commission on an ad personam basis for a term of two
years with effect from 17 January 2013.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board of Directors (“Board”) of the Company has always
valued transparency and accountability as the keys for achieving a
high standard of corporate governance, earning the confidence of
shareholders and the public.

The Company has adopted the code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the "Code”) contained in Appendix 14 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(the "Listing Rules”) as its own code on corporate governance
practices. Save as disclosed below, in the opinion of the Directors,
the Company has complied with the code provisions as set out in
the Code and there have been no material deviations from the Code
during the year:

Code Provision A.6.7 — Two Non-executive Directors and two
Independent Non-executive Directors were unable to attend the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 18 July
2012; two Non-executive Directors were unable to attend the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 31 August 2012; and
two Non-executive Directors and three Independent Non-executive
Directors were unable to attend the extraordinary general meeting
of the Company held on 18 February 2013, as they had other
engagements.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific
enquiry of all Directors, the Company confirmed that throughout the
year, all Directors have complied with the required standards set out
in the Model Code.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

1. Board composition

As of the date of this annual report, the Board of Directors
of the Company comprises four Executive Directors, namely
Mr. Lo Kan Sun (Acting Chairman), Mr. Hui Quincy Kwong Hei
(Managing Director), Ms. Au Shuk Yee, Sue and Ms. Chow Mun
Yee, two Non-executive Directors namely Mr. Andrew Liu and
Mr. Liu Kam Fai, Winston and five Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Gary Drew Douglas, Mr. Peter Temple
Whitelam, Dr. Agustin V. Que, Mr. Frank H. Miu and Mr. Hung
Cho Sing. Director’s biographical details are set out in the
Biographical Details of Directors on pages 9 to 12.
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TEERRE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

2.

14

Change in Director’s information

Pursuant to the relevant requirement under the Listing Rules,
the changes in Director’s information since the date of 2012
Interim Report of the Company are set out below:

Mr. Hung has been appointed by the HKSAR Government as
member of the Working Group on Manufacturing Industries,
Innovative Technology, and Cultural and Creative Industries
under the Economic Development Commission on an ad
personam basis for a term of two years with effect from 17
January 2013. Mr. Hung was also appointed as Independent
Non-executive Director of Mascotte Holdings Limited (listed
on the main board of the Stock Exchange) with effect from 22
January 2013.

EEE(8)
2. EEERIST

BIFEEMHRAUZEBART BARFF
——FHhHREAHANR EEEH 28
BEAT

HEERBEERNETASESRREZES
BRI RS SHREEXCAZEEET
ENEZRCE  BUAEA B 5B A TEN
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Attendance records of board meetings and other general 3. EEgERREMBRRASZHERRE
meetings
For the year ended 31 March 2013, the Board convened a total HE-_ZT—=—F=ZA=+—HLFE &
of 18 full board meetings. Attendance records of the Board SRS HERISREFEER TN - EF
meetings, other general meetings and the meetings of the 2eE EMRRASREEFZESERE
Board Committees during the year were set out below: ZHEEREINMT
Meetings Attended/Held
HE/ BITEERE
Annual  Extraordinary
General General Audit Remuneration  Nomination
Board Meeting Meeting Committee Committee Committee
EZxe RRBEA® RRNHIKE EKZEE HMzEe REZEe
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Lo Kan Sun (Acting BEHNEE 13/18 17 Y - - -
Chairman) (RELE)
Mr. Hui Quincy Kwong Hei FERLA 218 1N b)) - - -
(Managing Director) (EZ454E)
Ms. Au Shuk Yee, Sue gLt il 1] - - -
Ms. Chow Mun Yee PR ME 10 0 - - -
Mr. Scott Allen Phillips Scott Allen Phillips % & 4m 0/1 0/1 - - -
(resigned on 9 November (RZF——%+-
2012) ANBEE)
Non-executive Directors FUTES
Mr. Andrew Liu BHRELE 118 01 012 - - -
Mr. Liu Kam Fai, Winston BeELE 118 01 072 - - -
Independent Non-executive ~ BIURHTES
Directors
Mr. Gary Drew Douglas Gary Drew Douglas’t & 11 12 2/2 112 2/2
Mr. Peter Temple Whitelam Peter Temple Whitelam 11 12 212 2/2 22
b
Dr. Aqustin V. Que Agustin V. QuelB+ 8/18 1/1 012 22 W 22
Mr. Frank H. Miu 2a%k 6/18 Il 1] M - -
Mr. Hung Cho Sing (appointed A2 %4 13 0/0 12 0/0 0/0 0/0
on 9 January 2013) (R=F-=%5-A§
NBEZH)
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

4,

Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is collectively responsible for the leadership, control
and overall strategic development of the Group, as well as
overseeing internal control, financial performance, overall
management and operations of the Group. The Board has
delegated day-to-day operations to management, who is
responsible for implementing the Group’s business strategies
and managing the daily business operations.

Independence of Directors

During the year ended 31 March 2013 and up to the date
of the annual report, the Company has complied with the
requirements under the Listing Rules and has appointed five
Independent Non-executive Directors, representing more than
one-third of the number of Directors at the Board, with at
least one of the Independent Non-executive Directors has
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has made
an annual confirmation of independence, and the Company
considers that all of the Independent Non-executive Directors
are independent in accordance with the guidelines as set out in
the Listing Rules.

Mr. Liu Kam Fai, Winston is a cousin of Mr. Andrew Liu, who
is a Non-executive Director and substantial shareholder of the
Company.

Directors’ professional development

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The Company has also arranged in-house
trainings for Directors and provided the relevant materials to
the Directors.

All Directors have provided record of training to the Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

6. Directors’ professional development (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2013, the Directors participated

in the following trainings:

EEg (4

6. EEEERRE(Z)
BE-T-_SE=AS+-AILFE E
E N N R

Name Type of trainings
®E EIES
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Lo Kan Sun (Acting Chairman) EEHEE (KELE) A, B
Mr. Hui Quincy Kwong Hui (Managing Director) FTEERS A (EFLACTE) A, B
Ms. Au Shuk Yee, Sue R g 2+ A, B
Ms. Chow Mun Yee E R /A A, B
Mr. Scott Allen Phillips (resigned on 9 November 2012) Scott Allen Phillipst 4 A
(RZZE—=ZF+—ANBEE)
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Andrew Liu BitmiE A
Mr. Liu Kam Fai, Winston BeErAE A
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHTES
Mr. Gary Drew Douglas Gary Drew Douglas’t 4 A, B
Mr. Peter Temple Whitelam Peter Temple Whitelam4t & A
Dr. Agustin V. Que Agustin V. Quel& = A, B
Mr. Frank H. Miu BHEE A, B
Mr. Hung Cho Sing (appointed on 9 January 2013) HEE LA A

A: in-house training

B: attending seminars and/or forums

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

(R=ZF—=F—ANLBEZME)

A REREEN
B: HEHNERLimE

EIRRITHEAR
ERRTBRRZ ACETES AARREE

The role of the Chairman and the Chief Executive are segregated.
Mr. Lo Kan Sun, the Acting Chairman of the Company, performs
the role of the Chairman of the Company. Mr. Lo took up the role
of providing leadership for the Board. One of the major roles of
Mr. Lo is to ensure that the Board works effectively and discharges
its responsibility properly. Mr. Lo also ensures that good corporate
governance practice is in force from time to time, and all key issues
are discussed by the Board in a timely manner. Mr. Hui Quincy Kwong
Hei, the Managing Director of the Company, performs the role of
Chief Executive of the Company and is responsible for implementing
the Group's investment strategies within the authorities delegated by
the Board and managing the day-to-day business of the Group.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The term of office of each Non-executive Director is for a period of
three years but subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
the annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the
Company’s Articles of Association.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

1.

Audit Committee

At the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee
comprises five Independent Non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Frank H. Miu (Chairman), Mr. Gary Drew Douglas, Mr. Peter
Temple Whitelam, Dr. Agustin V. Que and Mr. Hung Cho Sing.
Each committee meeting was chaired by an Independent Non-
executive Director. The principal duties of the Audit Committee
include:

*  monitoring integrity of the Company's financial statements
and reports;

° reviewing financial controls, internal controls and risk
management system; and

e reviewing the Company’s financial and accounting policies
and practices.

The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources to
discharge its duties and has access to independent professional
advice if necessary. During the year, the Audit Committee had
reviewed the Group’s internal control, the interim report for the
six months ended 30 September 2012 and the annual report
for the year ended 31 March 2013.

The Audit Committee convened two meetings for the year.
Additional meetings will be held if the Audit Committee shall
so request. The individual attendance record of each member
of the Audit Committee is disclosed under the section headed
“The Board"” above.

Remuneration Committee

At the date of this annual report, the Remuneration Committee
comprises four Independent Non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Peter Temple Whitelam (Chairman), Mr. Gary Drew Douglas,
Dr. Agustin V. Que and Mr. Hung Cho Sing. The major roles and
functions of the Remuneration Committee as per the terms of
reference are as follows:

e to make recommendations to the Board on the Group’s
policy and structure for the remuneration of the Directors
and senior management;

*  to review and recommend the remuneration packages of
all Executive Directors for approval by the Board; and

*  to review and approve compensation payable to Directors
in connection with loss of their offices or compensation
arrangement relating to dismissal or removal of Director.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

2.

18

Remuneration Committee (continued)

The Remuneration Committee has every right to access to
professional advice relating to remuneration proposal if
necessary. During the year, the Remuneration Committee
had reviewed the remuneration package for the Directors
and senior management of the Group and no Director
was involved in deciding his/her remuneration. The
Remuneration Committee adopted the approach under the
Code to determine and review, with delegated responsibility,
the remuneration packages of individual Executive Directors and
senior management.

The Remuneration Committee convened two meetings for the
year. The individual attendance record of each member of the
Remuneration Committee is disclosed under the section headed
“The Board"” above.

Nomination Committee

At the date of this annual report, the Nomination Committee
comprises four Independent Non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Peter Temple Whitelam (Chairman), Mr. Gary Drew Douglas,
Dr. Agustin V. Que and Mr. Hung Cho Sing. The major roles and
functions of the Nomination Committee as per the terms of
reference are as follows:

e to review the structure, size and composition of the Board
and make recommendations for appointment of directors/
chairman/chief executives; and

e to assess the independence of the Independent Non-
executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee is provided with sufficient
resources to discharge its duties and has access to independent
professional advice if necessary. During the year, the
Nomination Committee had reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board; and considered the appointment of
Mr. Hung Cho Sing as Independent Non-executive Director.

Nomination Committee would make recommendations to
the Board regarding the appointment and re-appointment of
Directors, with reference to the skills, knowledge, experiences
education background, professional knowledge, personal
integrity of the proposed candidates, and also the Company’s
needs and other relevant statutory requirements and
regulations required for the positions. A candidate who is to
be appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director should
also meet the independence criteria as set out in the Listing
Rules. Qualified candidates will then be recommended to the
Board for approval.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

3. Nomination Committee (continued)
The Nomination Committee convened two meetings for the
year. The individual attendance record of each member of the
Nomination Committee is disclosed under the section headed
“The Board” above.

4. Corporate Governance Function
No corporate governance committee has been established. The
Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties with written terms of reference as below:

e to develop and review an issuer’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the
board;

e to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior
management;

e to review and monitor the Company's policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

° to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
applicable to employees and Directors; and

e to review the Company’s compliance with the Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the year, the Board had reviewed the Company’s
policies and practices on corporate governance.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2013, the remuneration paid/payable
to the Company’s external auditors in respect of audit services and
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non- audit services were as follows: RS 2EEmT :

Nature of services Amount

REME ok}
HK$'000
BET T

Review of interim results ER R EEE 780

Audit services EIZ RS 2,608

Non-audit services for other engagements (including HMEBLZENIIEZRS (BHEHEKRZ 330

Rights Issue transaction and review of financial S REHIMEER)

information)
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Chow Mun Yee is the Company Secretary of the Company,
who is also an Executive Director of the Company. She supports the
Board, ensures good information flow within the Board and Board
policy and procedures are followed, advises the Board on governance
matters and arrange continuous professional development to the
Directors. Her biography is set out in the “Biographical Details of
Directors” of this annual report.

During the year ended 31 March 2013, Ms. Chow has confirmed
that she has duly complied with the relevant requirement under the
Listing Rules and taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training.

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
The Board is responsible for the system of internal controls and
risk management of the Group and to review its effectiveness. The
internal controls of the Group was designed to provide reasonable
assurance that material assets were protected, business risks
attributable to the Group were identified and monitored properly,
material transactions were executed in accordance with proper
authorisation. It aims to provide reasonable but not absolute
assurance against material misstatement, loss or fraud.

During the year, a review of key internal control procedures had been
conducted to ensure that processes had been properly carried out as
prescribed in making decisions; the internal control policies had been
properly followed; books and records and documents were properly
maintained; and the investment or divestment was in compliance
with relevant legislations, regulations or/and other statutory
requirements.

Investment in listed securities is the core of the Group’ s investments
which classified as investments at fair value through profit or loss in
the statement of financial position and may expose to market price
risk. The Board has continuously monitoring the Group’s investments
with an aim to reduce such risk.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

1.

Procedures for shareholders to convene an extraordinary

general meeting

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, any
two shareholders of the Company may request the Board to
convene an extraordinary general meeting by way of depositing
a written requisition at the registered office of the Company
(Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1111, Cayman lIslands) specifying the objects of the
meeting and signed by the requisitionists.

Procedures for proposing a person for election as a Director
Subject to applicable laws and regulations, including the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the Listing Rules and
the Articles of Association of the Company, the Company may
from time to time in general meeting by ordinary resolution
elect any person to be a Director either to fill a casual vacancy
or as an addition to the Board.

A shareholder of the Company may propose a person (the
“Person”) for election as a Director by lodging the following
documents at the Company's principal place of business in
Hong Kong at Room 2302, 23rd Floor, China United Centre, 28
Marble Road, North Point, Hong Kong:

(1) a notice in writing signed by the shareholder concerned
of his/her/its intention to propose the Person as a Director
with full particulars of the Person including his/her/its
full name and biographical details as required under the
relevant requirement under the Listing Rules; and

(2) a notice in writing signed by the Person of his/her/its
consent to be elected as a Director.

The period for lodgement of such notice shall commence
on (and include) the day after the despatch of the notice of
meeting appointed for such election and end on (and exclude)
the date that is seven (7) days before the date appointed for
the general meeting.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT (continued)

3. Procedures for shareholders to put enquiries to the Board
Shareholders may direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings to the Company's share registrar in Hong Kong,
Tricor Secretaries Limited at 26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong. Other shareholders’
enquiries can be sent by mail to the Company’s principal place
of business in Hong Kong at Room 2302, 23rd Floor, China
United Centre, 28 Marble Road, North Point, Hong Kong
for the attention of Company Secretary who will direct the
enquiries to the Board for their handling.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the
general meetings of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS

1. The Company’s Constitutional Documents
There is no significant change in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year ended 31 March 2013.

2. Communication with Investors

The Company’s corporate website (www.freeman279.com)
facilitates effective communications with shareholders,
investors and other stakeholders, making corporate
information and other relevant financial and non-financial
information available electronically and on a timely basis. This
includes extensive historical information about the Group's
performance and activities via Interim Report, Annual Report,
announcements and other corporate information.

Shareholder’s meetings, such as annual general meeting and
extraordinary general meetings, provide another channel for
the Board to meet and communicate with shareholders. All
shareholders are provided with sufficient notice to attend the
shareholders’ meeting. The results of the voting by poll are
published on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s
website on a timely basis.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparation of
financial statements of the Group which give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Group and of its results and cash flows.
The Directors ensure that the financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2013 have been prepared in accordance with statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards. They will also
ensure the publication of which be in a timely manner.
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2013,

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND ANALYSIS OF
OPERATIONS

The Company is an investment holding company and provides
corporate management services. Details of the principal activities
of the principal subsidiaries are set out in note 17 to the financial
statements.

Details of the analysis of the Group’s revenue and results for the
year by operating segments are set out in note 4 to the financial
statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's results for the year ended 31 March 2013 and the state
of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date are set out in
the financial statements on pages 31 to 119. No dividend was paid
by the Company during the year. The directors do not recommend
the payment of a final dividend for the year.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Company for the last five financial years,
as extracted from the audited financial statements and restated/
reclassified/re-presented as appropriate, is set out on page 120. This
summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements during the year in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group are set out in note 14 to the financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the movements in the share capital and share options of
the Company during the year are set out in notes 28 and 29 to the
financial statements respectively.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association, or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, the Company repurchased some shares on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and

BE HEFBELOAQRTLHES

FA-ARBRBRABRERZAER AT ([H
REDBERBOBRND  ZERDEREARRF]

these shares were subsequently cancelled by the Company: FEEH -
Total
Consideration
No. of shares (excluding
Dates of Repurchase Repurchased Price per share expenses)
wRE
BB E A H BERGOHEE BRER (TEERX)
HK$
BT
9 July 2012 (cancelled on 12 July 2012) 3 0.033 0.099

—E-—HE+BAR(R-T——F+A+-HTH)

1 February 2013 (cancelled on 6 February 2013) 2 0.108 0.216

CE-=F B (RZTE—=F_"A/HT#H)

Except as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the listed securities
of the Company during the year.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on page 34 and note 30 to the financial statements.

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, dividends
shall be payable out of the profits or other reserves of the Company.
The Company’s reserves available for distribution to the Company’s
shareholders comprise share premium, capital redemption reserve,
contributed surplus, distributable reserve and shareholder’s
contribution, less accumulated losses, which in aggregate amounted
to HK$2,273,025,000 (2012: HK$1,855,361,000) at 31 March 2013.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS
During the year, the Group did not made any charitable
contributions.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, the aggregate turnover during the year
attributable to the Group’s five largest customers represents less
than 30% of the Group’s total turnover.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS (continued)
The aggregate purchases during the year attributable to the Group's
five largest suppliers represents approximately 85.5% of the Group’s
total purchases and the purchases attributable to the Group’s largest
supplier was approximately 39.8% of the Group’s total purchases.

As far as the Directors are aware, no directors of the Company, their
associates or any shareholders of the Company (who to the directors’
knowledge is interested in or owns more than 5% of the Company's
share capital) has any shareholding in the suppliers referred to above
as at 31 March 2013.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lo Kan Sun (Acting Chairman)

Mr. Hui Quincy Kwong Hei (Managing Director)

Ms. Au Shuk Yee, Sue

Ms. Chow Mun Yee

Mr. Scott Allen Phillips (resigned on 9 November 2012)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Andrew Liu
Mr. Liu Kam Fai, Winston

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Gary Drew Douglas

Mr. Peter Temple Whitelam

Dr. Agustin V. Que

Mr. Frank H. Miu

Mr. Hung Cho Sing (appointed on 9 January 2013)

In accordance with Article 112 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. Hui Quincy Kwong Hei, Ms. Chow Mun Yee, Mr.
Andrew Liu and Dr. Agustin V. Que will retire at the forthcoming
annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election.

No Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company or any of
its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS

IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

At 31 March 2013, based on the register kept by the Company, the
interests of the Directors and chief executives of the Company and
their associates in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations, as recorded in the
register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO") or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”) in the Listing Rules were as follows:

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company:

EEREARGHNDzER

RE R R FREMRRE AR E S ERNE
NEHE2EEMEARREETEERXHER
EANBZHERZEERLD-

ESERROREBRRG 2ER

R A

RZFE-—=F=ZA=1T—"H BARRAFEZE
M ArES RAREERTEETHRABARE
HEZBMBEATNAR A S EAEAABEB 2K
o HERG REST  BHAERLARRARRE
Er BB RO ([FE5REERD]) F3521F
AEEZECMA SRE EHRAA LT ET
ABEFETEFXZHNFES A ([FESFAI])
AHEARNA MBS NT

RARAREBRZHR:

Approximate

Number of percentage of
Name of Directors Capacity shares held shareholding
EEHE 5% FiERHOEE EREINES T
Mr. Andrew Liu Beneficial owner 124,094,235 14.77%
BimitE E=EAA
Ms. Au Shuk Yee, Sue Beneficial owner 819,480 0.09%
R+ E=mfEEA
Ms. Chow Mun Yee Beneficial owner 672,000 0.08%
BN E E=EAA
Mr. Gary Drew Douglas Beneficial owner 472,000 0.06%
Gary Drew Douglas’t 4 E=fEEA
Mr. Frank H. Miu Beneficial owner 472,000 0.06%

BHTE ERBEEA

The interests stated above represent the Directors’ interests in
the shares of the Company. The Directors’ interests in the share
options of the Company are disclosed in note 29 to the financial
statements. Save as disclosed above and based on the register kept
by the Company, at 31 March 2013, none of the Directors, chief
executives nor their associates had any interests or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations as recorded in the register required
to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or which were required to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in note 29 to the financial statements headed
“Share Option Schemes”, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debt securities (including debentures)
of, the Company or any other body corporate, and none of the
directors, or their spouses or children under the age of eighteen,
had any right to subscribe for the securities of the Company, or had
exercised any such rights during the year.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND

UNDERLYING SHARES

At 31 March 2013, based on the register kept by the Company,
the following persons has interests or short position in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company, being 5% or more of the
Company's issued share capital, as known to the Company or
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of SFO:

Directors’ Report
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SN REFE R AR B SE AR E A A
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BEARB T \RFREAEMNREARRFES
ZREM HERFATTEETMZFEN-
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AT ES LA R B AA - AR B RIEE S
NEIEGAIE336GFEZERMARE AT
AL HAERANR B Mo R BRI 2 # a8 30K
B RARBDHITRAS%HEIA L

Approximate

Number of percentage of
Name of substantial shareholders Capacity shares held shareholding
TERRBEER BB E40) FEROBE FHERELSEI
China Yunnan Tin Minerals Group Interest of controlled corporation 141,080,000 16.79%

Company Limited (note 1) REHEE 2 #a

TRESHEXEERAFRAF (M)
Willie International Holdings Limited Beneficial Owner 78,128,834 9.30%
BB R AR A F EREBA
HEC Capital Limited (note 2) Interest of controlled corporation 70,000,054 8.33%

HEC Capital Limited (Ff5E2) EEGDERE 2 s
Note 1: These shares are held through Upperclass Developments Limited and
Global Giant Development Limited, both of which are wholly owned

by China Yunnan Tin Minerals Group Company Limited.

Note 2: These shares are held by Murtsa Capital Management Limited,
a wholly owned subsidiary of Hennabun Development Limited,

whereas Hennabun Development Limited is wholly-owned by HEC.

Save as disclosed above and based on the register kept by the
Company, the Company had not been notified by any persons who
had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company at 31 March 2013 as recorded in the register required
to be kept under Sections 336 of the SFO.

B ZERMEBERERBR DA KGlobal
Giant Development Limited# 7 @ iZ M &2 A
HBRPEEREREEEER G2 EHEA -

a2 %% W& {5 FHennabun Development Limited

2 2 &M B A FMurtsa Capital Management
Limited# & * MHennabun Development
Limited BHEC2 & A o

%L XA REE AR AR AR 2 B
B K-FT-ZFZA=+—B AAFALFK
BAEAIA T RS - ERA A R AR
AR AR B A RS 0 B3361FE 2
B RS AA
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the Independent Non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all
the Independent Non-executive Directors are independent.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Company is set up
by the board of Directors on the basis of their merit, qualifications
and competence. The emoluments of the Directors of the Company
are decided by the Directors, who are authorised by the shareholders
in the annual general meeting, having regard to the Company's
operating results, individual performance and comparable market
statistics. The Company has adopted a share option scheme as
an incentive, details of the scheme are set out in note 29 to the
financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total issued share capital is held by the public as at the date of this
report.

AUDITORS

A resolution will be submitted to the coming annual general meeting
of the Company to re-appoint Messrs. Ernst & Young as auditors of
the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Freeman Financial Corporation Limited

Chow Mun Yee
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 June 2013
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Ell ERNST & YOUNG
z Kk

To the shareholders of Freeman Financial Corporation Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Freeman
Financial Corporation Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together, the “Group”) set out on pages 31 to 119, which comprise
the consolidated and company statements of financial position as
at 31 March 2013, and the consolidated income statement, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely
to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are
free from material misstatement.

Independent Auditors’ Report
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Independent Auditors’ Report
B 3 %% B R

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY (continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors
consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as
at 31 March 2013, and of the Group's profit and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
22/F CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue

Central, Hong Kong

28 June 2013
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Consolidated Income Statement

mEWER

Year ended 31 March 2013 #Z=-F—=#F=H=+—HIFFZ

2013 2012
—E-=F —E——F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 2 BT T BT T
CONTINUING OPERATIONS FEREXEK
REVENUE I = 5 75,701 8,759
Cost of sales FHE A (502) (4,175)
Gross profit FE A 75,199 4,584
Other income and gains N N & 5 59,416 8,156
Fair value gains/(losses) on investments @B A A FEER 2
at fair value through profit or loss, BEZ A FERE
net (FE18) F88 186,340 (463,748)
General and administrative expenses — M RITHRAX (32,792) (38,367)
Other expenses, net Hib 558 (1,398) (23,659)
Finance costs B & PR A 7 (9,251) (8,483)
Share of profits and losses of associates %165 B % /2 &3 ) & 548 51,700 (140,818)
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX FROM BEREEBLZBREA
CONTINUING OPERATIONS wH(EBR) 6 329,214 (662,335)
Income tax expense Fr 8% &2 10 (1,792) 278
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FROM R EEEERIAKREE
CONTINUING OPERATIONS =R (EER) 327,422 (662,057)
DISCONTINUED OPERATION HIEREER
Profit for the year from the discontinued #& IF & & 255 2 NE[E
operation ikl 12 - 24,134
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR REERF(FE) 327,422 (637,923)
Attributable to: THIALTFE(L:
Owners of the Company KARHE A 11 327,502 (639,172)
Non-controlling interest JEfE R (80) 1,249
327,422 (637,923)
EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE EATEBREFTEARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EERERN(FHE)
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY 13
(Restated)
Basic and diluted: AR #E (4EE3))
For earnings/(loss) for the year RNEFEAF/ (EBEE) BHHKS3.56T  (BHEHK$20.847T)
For earnings/(loss) from continuing SEREE BN,
operations (E#’E) BMEHKS3.567T (BIEHKS21.627T)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

mEEREBARSE

Year ended 31 March 2013 BZ=—F—=F=H=+—HI FZ

2013 2012
—E-=F T4
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 BT T BT T
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR REEBHN(FBR) 327,422 (637,923)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Hib2EUA
An available-for-sale investment: AfEERE: 19
Change in fair value NEEED) 17,068 (6,282)
Impairment loss reclassified to the ENBEERANER
consolidated income statement FEEE 1,398 6,282
Reclassification of cumulative gains to HERRFRREHFHE
the consolidated income statement ERARER
upon disposal (18,466) -
Share of other comprehensive income/ D18 & 2 & 2 H A
(loss) of associates, net ZEWA S (EE)FE8E (12,927) 14,861
Exchange differences on translation of ~ HEFINEBEEZ
foreign operations BE 5, = 88 - 8
Release of exchange fluctuation reserve & M8 2 711% # [
upon disposal of subsidiaries HINE K B 5 1 32 - (120)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ rEEHMEEKA
(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR, (E18) (BRHR)
NET OF TAX (12,927) 14,749
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ FEEZHEKBA (FE)
(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR #E 314,495 (623,174)
Attributable to: THIA T FEML -
Owners of the Company EN/NETE RSN 314,575 (624,423)
Non-controlling interest SEFE IR M A (80) 1,249
314,495 (623,174)
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NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Investment in an associate
Intangible asset
Available-for-sale investments
Loans receivable

Note receivable

Deferred tax assets

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Accounts receivable

Loans receivable

Prepayments, deposits and other
receivables

Investments at fair value through
profit or loss

Cash and bank balances

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payable

Other payables and accruals
Interest-bearing other borrowings
Tax payable

Total current liabilities
NET CURRENT ASSETS
NET ASSETS

EQUITY

Equity attributable to owners of

the Company
Issued capital
Reserves

Non-controlling interest

Total equity

Lo Kan Sun

EEH
Director

EF

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

R B B IR AR

31 March 2013 —ZF—=#=H=+—H

HRBEE
ME - BE k&
R E R AR
BIEE
AfhERE
& U B R
R R &
BREFRIREE

FRBEERE

REBEE
P& U5 B R
&4 B R

BNRE R REMER

IR
FRBRURNFEIEZ
BE

B MIRTTE S
mBEERE

nREBAE

JE A AR 3K

H e AR ERTE M
AREEMEE

J& S 7]

mEBAEAE
REBEEFE
BEEZRE

R
RATER ARG ES

BEEITHA
i

FERER

BB

Notes
B RE

14
18
16
19
20
22
27

21
20

22

23
24

25

26

28
30(a)

2013 2012
—EBE—-=F —E——F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BB T
3,885 3,990
1,102,754 904,742
339 339
1,986 137,693
1,411 -
7,711 7,711

47 47
1,118,133 1,054,522
136,886 42,365
4,623 2,007
2,026 2,555
1,380,032 891,116
180,594 235,881
1,704,161 1,173,924
11,853 2,304
4,161 4,391
303,506 268,142
2,852 2,244
322,372 277,081
1,381,789 896,843
2,499,922 1,951,365
42,017 12,256
2,457,905 1,923,231
2,499,922 1,935,487
- 15,878
2,499,922 1,951,365

Chow Mun Yee
BHR
Director

EF

RELGXERBRAE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
MERERHXR

Year ended 31 March 2013 HZ2=F—=4F=A=+—HIFEF

Attributable to owners of the Company

ADRERARE
Available-
landand  for-sale Retained
Share Share Capital building investment  Exchange profits/ Non-
Issued ~ premium option  redemption Distributable Special  revaluation revaluation fluctuation (accumulated controlling
capital  account reserve reserve reserve reserve’  reserve reserve reserve losses) Total interest Total equity
i
i THEEF  HERE HE  REEH/

BEARE ROEEE BREGE ATRDRE NREE  WIRE  ERGR  EMEE  RBEE (REER) @i FAREE  EReE
Notes  HKSO00  HKSO0D  HKE'000  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKS000  HKS00D  HKSO00  HK$O0D  HKEOOD  HKS00  HKSO0D  HKS'000
Wi RETR RMTR  BMTR RETR RMTR  BMTR %R RMTn BMTR B¥TR RETn EMTR B¥TR

A1 April 2011 RZE--EEA-A 471310 1,171,008 - 485 895,331 35,131 6,081 4103 112 (81,797) 2,501,824 - 250184
Profitoss) for the year TEEER/ (BE) - - - - - - - - - 69172 (639172 149 (631903)
Other comprehensive income for the year: FEREMRENN
An avallable-forsale investment: THHERE: 19
Change in fair value ATERY - - - - - - - (6,282) - - (6,282) - 6,282)
Impairment loss reclassified to the consolidated BiARERANERL
income statement i - - - - - - - 6,28 - - 6,28 - 6,282
Shate of other comprehensive income of an associate  DEBERTEM2ERA - - - - - - - 14,861 - - 14,861 - 14,861
Exchange differences on translation of foreign ?ﬁ%*ﬁ%%ﬁﬁiz
operations EXZR - - - - - - - - 8 - 8 - 8
Release of exchange fluctuation reserve upon LENBLAARR
disposal of subsidiaries NERDHE b - - - - - - - - (120 - (120) - (120
Total comprehensive income(los) for the year FERREAN/ (BR)EE - - - - - - - 148 (1) (639172 (624,423) 149 (623174)
Disposal of subsidiaries HENRAA - - - - - - (6,081) - - 6,081 - - -
Transfer a8 30b) - - - - (530000 - - - - 530000 - - -
Deemed disposal of interest n a subsidiary BELENBRFZBR 31() - - - - kil - - - - - 3 14629 15,000
Capital reorganisation uxi 80 (461942) - - - 9 - - - - - - - -
Issue of new shares Bl 280 185 36767 - - - - - - - - B - R
Fquity-settled share option arrangement NEREERRE 2R ] - - 1,45 - - - - - - - 1,245 - 1,45
Evercise of share options fifetRE 28(), 29 Lt] 18,120 (1,245) - - - - - - - 17818 - 17818
At 31 March 2012 W-F-£ZA=1-A 12,5 1,225,895 - 485 827,644* 35,131 -+ 18,964* -+ (184,888 1,935,487 15878 1,951,365
At 1 April 2012 R-E-E0A-H 125 1225895 - 485 827,644 35131 - 18,964 - (184888) 1935487 15878 1,951,365
Profitoss) for the year KERET/ (B8) - - - - - - - - - WS 3SR (80 3740
Other comprehensive income for the year: FEREMREUN
An avalable-for-sale investment: TREERE: 19
Change in fair value NFTE@@J - - - - - - - 17,068 - - 17,068 - 17,068
Impairment loss reclassfied to the consolidated AAREGENER A
income statement ﬁ@ﬁ - - - - - - - 139 - - 1,398 - 139
Reclassification of cumulative gains to the i Z:?‘f%iﬁ AEE
consolidated income statement upon disposal =) - - - - - - - (18,466) - - (18,466) - (18,466)
Share of other comprehensive loss of associates 7 Wé 2R - - - - - - - - - - ()
Total comprehensive incomef(loss) fo the year AERRENN/ (BE)a8 - - - - - - - () - IS 314575 80) 314495
Rights issue s 28(e) 251 220,601 - - - - - - - - 25,12 - 25,112
Share isue expenses RipRIAE - (5,939) - - - - - - - - (5,93) - (5,935)
Acquisition of additional interest in a subsiciary WENBLAZEMER  28h310 5250 8190 - - @75 - - - - - 10683 (15,79) (5,115)
At 31 March 2013 RZE-ZEZf=1-B Q17 1448751 - 485 824,887 35,131* - 6,037 =4 14614 2,499,922 - 249992

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of — * hERFREREEEEMBRABEANZES
HK$2,457,905,000 (2012: HK$1,923,231,000) in the consolidated I #5748 12,457,905,0007T (=& — — & : B
statement of financial position. 1,923,231,0007T) °

# The special reserve of the Group represents the difference between the — * REBFHNRFEREAEBAERA T ZBRA R

aggregate amount of the share capital and share premium account of a R RER BEERRFR—-NANZFIRE
company which was the former holding company of the Group and the SESHEHERITRM  EBE I ERE-

nominal value of the Company’s shares issued pursuant to the group
reorganisation in 1992.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

Year ended 31 March 2013 #HZ - F—=#F=HA=+—HIFZ

2013 2012
—E—-Z=F T4
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B BET T BETIT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING EETEMELEZEERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit/(loss) before tax from: BREAEF, (BE) %A
— continuing operations —FEKEER 329,214 (662,335)
— discontinued operation (including gain ~ — & L ¥ (BELER
on disposal of the discontinued IEaE % 2 W)
operation) 12 - 24,134
Adjustments for: HATHBEELAE:
Finance costs & A 7 9,251 8,483
Share of profits and losses of associates B & A B 2 & ) &
&8 (51,700) 140,818
Interest income F B U A (17,725) (14,033)
Depreciation e 6 1,258 894
Fair value losses/(gains) on investments FimiBm AR FETR
at fair value through profit or loss, net 2B ZRNFE
B8, (W) $5E (186,340) 463,748
Gain on disposal of an available-for-sale ~ H&E—HAHHEREZ
investment I & 5 (18,466) -
Loss on disposal/write-off of items of HEBEDE BE R
property, plant and equipment REIEE BB 6 19 32
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries, net HEKBR AW FEE 6 - (24,164)
Gain on changes in shareholding BENRIERERZE 2
interests in associates, net Wz 558 5 (39,243) (1,501)
Impairment of an available-for-sale At SR ERE
investment 6 1,398 6,282
Reversal of impairment of a loan EREFRERE
receivable 6 - (526)
Impairment of other receivables E A e W IR R E 6 - 2,700
Fair value changes on derivative financial #7448 T A QA FEEZH
instruments, net FE 6 - 14,677
Equity-settled share option expense NEmEEBREZRAY 29 - 1,245
27,666 (39,546)
Increase in accounts receivable JiE L2 BR SR8 N (82,345) (8,476)
Decrease/(increase) in loans receivable FEUWE UKL, (&) (3,993) 28,644
Decrease in prepayments, deposits and B FRIE me REM
other receivables JE W FR B R 529 1,033
Increase in investments at fair value FRBEHEUATFEINERZ
through profit or loss &L (302,576) (328,673)
Increase in accounts payable JE 1< BR FRE 1 9,549 2,146
Increase/(decrease) in other payables and  E b JE (< FUIBE & fE 5+ & F 18
accruals hn Ceid) (1,324) 82
Cash used in operations CEMARS (352,494) (344,790)
Interest received B U7 8 5,515 12,231
Interest paid BEFE (3,818) (7,781)
Income tax paid BTER (1,184) -
Net cash flows used in operating activities ZEEZHMEBHA RS RE
R (351,981) (340,340)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

Year ended 31 March 2013 #Z2 -—F—=#=HA=+—HIFE

Net cash flows used in operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES

Additions to property, plant and
equipment

Purchase of available-for-sale investments
Proceeds from disposal of an available-for-

sale investment
Acquisition of a subsidiary
Loans to associates
Disposal of subsidiaries

Net cash flows from investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

Acquisition of additional interest in a
subsidiary

Proceeds from issue of new shares by a
subsidiary

Proceeds from issue of new shares

Proceeds from rights issue

Proceeds from share options exercised

Share issue expenses

Drawdown of other borrowings

Repayment of other borrowings

Increase/(decrease) in margin loan
borrowings, net

Net cash flows from financing activities

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of

year
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes,
net

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END

OF YEAR

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND

CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances

Notes

B &

LELHAPHRZIEALRE
H R

REEEMEEZ
BERg
BRENE BFENRERE

BEAMHBERE
HEAHKEREZ

1S 7R IR

s 8 B /8 A ) 31(a)
Brg REER

ek =LY /N 32

14

BRERSAMBZRETRE
R

BMETEMELEZRERE
WEHE AR Z8EM S
— BB AR EITHRAS

31(c)

IR 31(b)

BT Z TS RE 28
A% 2 BTS00 28
ITEERE 2 TR RE 28
EHETHE 28
ENEMEER

EEEMER
HREREEE M CH
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MERBAELZRERE
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RERRESENRD FE

FNzReRREEFEY
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2013 2012
—EBE—-=F —EF—=

HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BET T
(351,981) (340,340)
(1,172) (435)
- (48,080)
32,775 425,729
- 35,375

- (300,000)

- (2,609)
31,603 109,980
(5,115) -
- 15,000

- 48,080
245,112 -
- 17,818
(5,935) -
514,012 168,000
(474,024) (238,000)
(8,959) 72,709
265,091 83,607
(55,287) (146,753)
235,881 382,624
- 10
180,594 235,881
180,594 235,881




Statement of Financial Position

31 March 2013 —F—=#=H=+—H

2013 2012
—E-=F —E——F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 7E BT T BT T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS kRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RHBEARIZRE 17 34,360 34,360
Available-for-sale investment AHEERE 19 120,000 120,000
Total non-current assets EREBEELE 154,360 154,360
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Prepayments, deposits and other TERTFRIE R e R E M R
receivables A 22 424 1,013
Due from subsidiaries FE U BT /B A B FR IR 17 2,166,661 1,606,903
Cash and bank balances He MIBTTH 8 24 2,440 113,123
Total current assets mEEELE 2,169,525 1,721,039
CURRENT LIABILITIES REAE
Due to subsidiaries JEATBT B A R ZRIB 17 6,753 4,785
Other payables and accruals Et A IERETER 2,090 2,997
Total current liabilities mEAGELE 8,843 7,782
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 2,160,682 1,713,257
NET ASSETS EEFE 2,315,042 1,867,617
EQUITY =
Issued capital BEBITR A 28 42,017 12,256
Reserves & 1% 30(b) 2,273,025 1,855,361
Total equity MR IETE 2,315,042 1,867,617
Lo Kan Sun Chow Mun Yee
EEH BER
Director Director
EZE EZE
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

Freeman Financial Corporation Limited is a limited liability
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The principal
place of business of the Company is located at Room 2302,
23rd Floor, China United Centre, 28 Marble Road, North Point,
Hong Kong.

During the year, the Group was principally engaged in the
financial services sector, including the provision of securities
brokerage services, the provision of insurance brokerage and
financial planning services, the provision of corporate finance
advisory services, trading of securities, provision of finance, as
well as investment holding.

The Group discontinued its property holding and investment
operation during the year ended 31 March 2012 as detailed in
note 12 to these financial statements.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
(which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs"”) and Interpretations)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA"), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for certain
available-for-sale investments and investments at fair value
through profit or loss, which have been measured at fair value.
These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except
when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the "Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2013.
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until
the date that such control ceases. All intra-group balances,
transactions, unrealised gains and losses resulting from
intra-group transactions and dividends are eliminated on
consolidation in full.

Total comprehensive income within a subsidiary is attributed

to the non-controlling interest even if it results in a deficit
balance.

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

2.1

ARER
REMEERAR AN A HBRHEEZES
AL BERAR - ARARIZEEEE
BN E B A S BB 285 FEE 023
B2302%F -

FRAEEIZNZSBRBGE BER
HE LR R IR L FIER R
R RECEREBRRYE EEE
FoREREMEEERER-

AEERNBE-_ZEZ——F=A=+—801t
FERIFSEDERBREEER 15
BN ZEMERERM 12 -

mBLEE
ZEVBRRDREAEEEHMOAE
(IEEGEIAE ) B2 BB BRE
R (TEAMBHREEA]) (BT BRER
BREVBHREER FRGIEN([F
AERTEADERE) BEEERMAZ
SRR REE R AR 2 BT AR E AR
H-BUARTFEAEZETAHRLERE
FEBBmNARNFEIKRZEREN ZF
MBHRERDIBRIBELAANEZHmE - ZFH
BHRERABE 25 MERIESBIERIN T
BEEHARERROIZ TRE-

REEE
HAMBRREFARALENE R A
(BB AEBBE_Z—=%=A
ST -BUFEZHBHRR -WBARZ
BA TS ¥R R JY 3% B R B AR R B9 i o5 AR A
—HORTRERE -MEBARZEEA
WERH (AAKERGIEH#EER)ER
EZEGIEELILEZBIERE AR NEE
NAERREZER RHRAEERM
BRAMZRGMEEZ REHR M ENE
BARBEHREE ARKE2EEH-

MY AR 2 2 E U A KRR T) SR B SF A
Rz - BB UL 28 5| BUBS At A5 65 o



2.1

2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (cContinued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a
loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and
(i) the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received,
(i) the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits/
accumulated losses, as appropriate.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND

DISCLOSURES
The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the
first time for the current year’s financial statements.

HKFRS 1 Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption of
Amendments Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards —
Severe Hyperinflation and Removal of Fixed
Dates for First-time Adopters
HKFRS 7 Amendments to HKFRS 7 Fnancial Instruments:
Amendments Disclosures — Transfers of Financial Assets
HKAS 12 Amendments to HKAS 12 ncome Taxes — Deferred
Amendments Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets

The adoption of the revised HKFRSs has had no significant
financial effect on these financial statements.

2.1

2.2
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

40

The Group has not applied the following new and revised

HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in

HKFRS 1
Amendments

HKFRS 7
Amendments

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 9 and HKFRS

7 Amendments

HKFRS 10
HKFRS 11
HKFRS 12

HKFRS 10, HKFRS

11 and HKFRS 12

Amendments

HKFRS 10, HKFRS
12 and HKAS
27 (2011)
Amendments

HKFRS 13

HKAS 1 Amendments

HKAS 19 (2011)
HKAS 27 (2011)
HKAS 28 (2011)

HKAS 32
Amendments

HKAS 36
Amendments

HK(IFRIC)-Int 20

HK(IFRIC)-Int 21

Annual

Improvements
2009-2011 Cycle

these financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption of
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards —
Government Loans?

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures — Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities?

Financial Instruments*

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 -
Mandatory Effective Date of HKFRS 9 and
Transition Disclosures*

Consolidated Financial Statements?
Joint Arrangements?
Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities?

Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and
HKFRS 12 - Transition Guidance?

Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and
HKAS 27 (2011) - Investment Entities?

Fair Value Measurement?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements — Presentation of Items
of Other Comprehensive Income'

Employee Benefits*

Separate Financial Statements?
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures?

Amendments to HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation — Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities®

Amendments to HKAS 36 /Impairment of Assets
— Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-
Financial Assets?

Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a
Surface Mine?

Levies?

Amendments to a number of HKFRSs issued in
June 20122
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2.3

2.4

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(Continued)
! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the
impact of these new and revised HKFRSs upon initial application
but is not yet in a position to state whether these new and
revised HKFRSs would have a significant impact on its financial
statements.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and operating policies
the Company controls, directly or indirectly, so as to obtain
benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company's
income statement to the extent of dividends received and
receivable. The Company’s investments in subsidiaries are
stated at cost less any impairment losses.

Upon the disposal of investments in subsidiaries, any gain or
loss arising thereon is included in the income statement and
any amounts recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to those subsidiaries should be accounted for on the
same basis as if the related assets or liabilities are directly
disposed of by those subsidiaries.

Associates

An associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary or a jointly-
controlled entity, in which the Group has a long term interest
of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and
over which it is in a position to exercise significant influence.

The Group's investments in associates are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group's
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting,
less any impairment losses. Adjustments are made to bring
into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist. The
Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and reserves of
associates is included in the consolidated income statement
and consolidated reserves, respectively. Unrealised gains and
losses resulting from transactions between the Group and
its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group's
investments in the associates, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates is included
as part of the Group’s investments in associates and is not
individually tested for impairment.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
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POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the event
of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair
value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial
instrument and within the scope of HKAS 39 is measured at
fair value with changes in fair value either recognised in profit
or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income. If the
contingent consideration is not within the scope of HKAS
39, it is measured in accordance with the appropriate HKFRS.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group's previously held equity interests in the acquiree over
the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If
the sum of this consideration and other items is lower than
the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as
at 31 March. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition
date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or
groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether
other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those
units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised.
An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured based on
the relative value of the disposed operation and the portion of
the cash-generating unit retained.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than financial
assets and deferred tax assets), the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit's value in use and its fair value
less costs to sell, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in
which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the
income statement in the period in which it arises.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
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POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an
asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been
a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the
carrying amount that would have been determined (net of
any depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss
is credited to the income statement in the period in which it
arises.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost
of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended
use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the income statement
in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as
a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful
lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual
rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Leasehold land under finance Over the lease terms
leases
Buildings

Leasehold improvements

Over the lease terms

Over the shorter of the
lease terms and 15%

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 15%

Computer equipment 33"5%
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the income statement in the year the
asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold interest under an operating lease
for a property which would otherwise meet the definition
of an investment property) held to earn rental income and/
or for capital appreciation, rather than for use in the supply
of services or for administrative purposes; or for sale in the
ordinary course of business. Such properties are measured
initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair
value, which reflects market conditions at the end of the
reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the income statement in
the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the income statement in
the year of the retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied
properties, the deemed cost of a property for subsequent
accounting is its fair value at the date of change in use. If a
property occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied property
becomes an investment property, the Group accounts for such
property in accordance with the policy stated under “Property,
plant and equipment and depreciation” up to the date of
change in use, and any difference at that date between the
carrying amount and the fair value of the property is accounted
for as a revaluation in accordance with the policy stated under
“Property, plant and equipment and depreciation” above.
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POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwiill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either
finite or indefinite.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-
generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised.
The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life
is reviewed annually to determine whether indefinite life
assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the change in
the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted
for on a prospective basis.

Trading right

Trading right represents the eligibility right to trade on or
through The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock
Exchange”) with an indefinite useful life. It is carried at cost less
any impairment losses.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets of the Group within the scope of HKAS 39
are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss, loans and receivables, and available-for-sale financial
investments, as appropriate. The Group determines the
classification of its financial assets at initial recognition. When
financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at
fair value plus transaction costs, except in the case of financial
assets recorded at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading and financial assets designated
upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are
acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term. Derivatives,
including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as
held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments as defined by HKAS 39.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in the statement of financial position at fair value with net
changes in fair value recognised in the income statement. These
net fair value changes do not include any dividends on these
financial assets, which are recognised in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

The Group evaluates its financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (held for trading) to assess whether the intent to
sell them in the near term is still appropriate. When, in rare
circumstances, the Group is unable to trade these financial
assets due to inactive markets and management’s intent to
sell them in the foreseeable future significantly changes, the
Group may elect to reclassify them. The reclassification from
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss to loans
and receivables, available-for-sale financial assets or held-to-
maturity investments depends on the nature of the assets.

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for as
separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if their economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of
the host contracts and the host contracts are not held for
trading or designated at fair value through profit or loss. These
embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with changes
in fair value recognised in the income statement. Reassessment
only occurs if there is a change in the terms of the contract that
significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be
required.
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POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. After initial measurement, such assets are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate
method less any allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is
calculated by taking into account any discount or premium
on acquisition and includes fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest
rate amortisation is included in other income and gains in
the income statement. The loss arising from impairment is
recognised in the income statement.

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative
financial assets in listed and unlisted equity investments and
debt securities. Equity investments classified as available for
sale are those which are neither classified as held for trading
nor designated at fair value through profit or loss. Debt
securities in this category are those which are intended to be
held for an indefinite period of time and which may be sold
in response to needs for liquidity or in response to changes in
market conditions.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investments
are subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised
gains or losses recognised as other comprehensive income in
the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve until the
investment is derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain
or loss is recognised in the income statement in other income,
or until the investment is determined to be impaired, when the
cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from the available-for-
sale investment revaluation reserve to the income statement.
Interest and dividends earned whilst holding the available-for-
sale financial investments are reported as interest income and
dividend income, respectively and are recognised in the income
statement in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition” below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot be
reliably measured because (a) the variability in the range of
reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that investment
or (b) the probabilities of the various estimates within the range
cannot be reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair
value, such investments are stated at cost less any impairment
losses.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments (Continued)

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to sell
its available-for-sale financial assets in the near term are still
appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the Group is unable
to trade these financial assets due to inactive markets and
management’s intent to do so significantly changes in the
foreseeable future, the Group may elect to reclassify these
financial assets. Reclassification to loans and receivables is
permitted when the financial assets meet the definition of
loans and receivables and the Group has the intent and ability
to hold these assets for the foreseeable future or to maturity.
Reclassification to the held-to-maturity category is permitted
only when the Group has the ability and intent to hold until the
maturity date of the financial asset.

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-
sale category, the fair value carrying amount at the date
of reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and any
previous gain or loss on that asset that has been recognised
in equity is amortised to profit or loss over the remaining
life of the investment using the effective interest rate. Any
difference between the new amortised cost and the maturity
amount is also amortised over the remaining life of the asset
using the effective interest rate. If the asset is subsequently
determined to be impaired, then the amount recorded in equity
is reclassified to the income statement.

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active
markets is determined by reference to quoted market prices
or dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask
price for short positions), without any deduction for transaction
costs. For financial instruments where there is no active
market, the fair value is determined using appropriate valuation
techniques. Such techniques include using recent arm’s length
market transactions; reference to the current market value
of another instrument which is substantially the same; a
discounted cash flow analysis; or other valuation models.
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POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or
a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a
group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only
if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one
or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of
the asset (an incurred “loss event”) and that loss event has
an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably
estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications
that a debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing significant
financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation and observable data indicating
that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash
flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that
correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses individually whether objective evidence of impairment
exists for financial assets that are individually significant,
or collectively for financial assets that are not individually
significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence
of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial
asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a
group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics
and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that
are individually assessed for impairment and for which an
impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not
included in a collective assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that
have not yet been incurred). The present value of the estimated
future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed
at initial recognition). If a loan has a variable interest rate, the
discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current
effective interest rate.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either directly
or through the use of an allowance account and the loss is
recognised in the income statement. Interest income continues
to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount and is accrued
using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows
for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. Loans and
receivables together with any associated allowance are written
off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and
all collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the
Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting
the allowance account. If a write-off is later recovered, the
recovery is credited to the income statement.

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried
at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured,
the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of
return for a similar financial asset. Impairment losses on these
assets are not reversed.

Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group assesses
at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective
evidence that an investment or a group of investments is
impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising
the difference between its cost (net of any principal payment
and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment
loss previously recognised in the income statement, is removed
from other comprehensive income and recognised in the
income statement.
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POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments (Continued)

In the case of equity investments classified as available for sale,
objective evidence would include a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of an investment below its cost. The
determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires
judgement. “Significant” is evaluated against the original cost
of the investment and “prolonged” against the period in which
the fair value has been below its original cost. Where there is
evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss — measured as the
difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair
value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously
recognised in the income statement — is removed from
other comprehensive income and recognised in the income
statement. Impairment losses on equity instruments classified
as available for sale are not reversed through the income
statement. Increases in their fair value after impairment are
recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
derecognised when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a
third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and
either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of
the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risk
and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is
recognised to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement
in the asset. In that case, the Group also recognises an
associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount
of consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities of the Group within the scope of HKAS 39
are classified as loans and borrowings. The Group determines
the classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and,
in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities included accounts and other
payables, and interest-bearing other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are
an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the
income statement.
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POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse
the holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor
fails to make a payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is
recognised initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issuance
of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contract at the higher of: (i)
the amount of the best estimate of the expenditure required to
settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period;
and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the income statement.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group's cash management.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position, cash and

bank balances comprise cash on hand and at banks, including
term deposits, which are not restricted as to use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in the income statement.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency.
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each entity
are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end
of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in the income
statement.

Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date
when the fair value was determined. The gain or loss arising
on translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value
is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on
change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on
the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
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POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior
periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered
from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, when
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse in
the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the
end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent
that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to
the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as
operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased
by the Group under operating leases are included in non-
current assets, and rentals receivable under the operating leases
are credited to the income statement on the straight-line basis
over the lease terms. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals
payable under operating leases are charged to the income
statement on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be
measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) rental income, on a time proportion basis over the lease
terms;

(b) income from the sale of equity and debt securities, on a
trade-date basis;

(c) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to receive
payment has been established;

(d) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset;
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 T ESTHHEZHBE (#)
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued) WA (&)

(e) insurance brokerage income, on the inception of the (e) {% B 4 42 R A PA AR B8 AR BE AR AR R T
associated insurance policy; Eol

(f)  corporate finance advisory income, when the relevant (f)y EmMERBEMUGA  RI2HEERS
service has been rendered; R RER

(9) commission and brokerage income from securities (9 BHFEEZASMELBAERSH
dealings, on a trade-date basis; and HA R MR

(h)  underwriting and placing commission income, when the (hy BHEEREASBA  REEEER
relevant service has been rendered. TR R -

Related parties BER

A party is considered to be related to the Group if: FE—FHBUATER BIRAARER 2

BT

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s () BEAR—BALTHRALTZER:
family and that person ez ATt :

() has control or joint control over the Group; () $ZANE B 5 2 6 ok L R 1

TE:

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or iy HAEEBEERFE2: %

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of (i) AAEENEEENRASHK
the Group or of a parent of the Group; EEABZKE:

or %
(b) the party is an entity where any of the following (b) BEFTREBILFEATNEM IR
conditions applies: -

() the entity and the Group are members of the same () ZEBERAEEER-—SEH
group; MERFA]:

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the (i —HAEBES —EEMNBEA
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow AEBEE (KNS —EB 2
subsidiary of the other entity); Ra - -MWERAXERWEBA

CIDE

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the (i) ZEEERAEEHABERE=
same third party; FTZEERE:

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the (ivy —BERAEF-—EB 6D
other entity is an associate of the third entity; (¥RF—EBRE-ERB W

Z2A:

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for (v) HEBAAEENANEEBE
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an BEERESEN MR REZ
entity related to the Group; BREE:

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a (i) ZEEZ(G )IEFfruék)DzJZ/\iT
person identified in (a); and i ok BHE )

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant (i) R@OFT#ER 2 AT HZES
influence over the entity or is a member of the key BEARTE: imﬁ%ﬁ‘% =%
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent ERZERA) AREBABLZ
of the entity). K8 e
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and/or rewards to eligible participants
(including the Company’s directors and other employees of the
Group and of the investee entities, and any consultant, advisor
or agent engaged by or business partners of any member of
the Group or any investee entity), who render services and/or
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors) and advisors of the Group receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payments, whereby
employees/advisors render services as consideration for equity
instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for
grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to the
fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair value
is determined by an external valuer using a binomial model. In
valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any
performance conditions, other than conditions linked to the
price of the shares of the Company (“market conditions”), if
applicable.

The cost of equity-settled transactions with non-employees is
measured by reference to the fair value of the services received
at the date they are received. Where the market information
for the services provided by non-employees cannot be reliably
determined, the fair value of the share options granted at the
date when the services are received is applied as a surrogate
measure. In this case, the fair value of the share options is
determined by external valuers using a binomial model.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together
with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period
in which the performance and/or service conditions are
fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the
vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has
expired and the Group's best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the
income statement for a period represents the movement in the
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of
that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately
vest, except for equity-settled transactions where vesting is
conditional upon a market or non-vesting condition, which are
treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market
or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other
performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
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POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employees/advisors as measured at
the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as
if it had vested on the date of cancellation and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it
is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.

Employee benefits

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group's operations as further
explained in the accounting policy for “Share-based payments”
above.

Retirement benefit scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to participate
in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to
the income statement as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group's employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed
into the MPF Scheme, except for the Group's employer
voluntary contributions, which are refunded to the Group when
the employee leaves employment prior to the contributions
vesting fully, in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment of loans receivable

The Group maintains an allowance for the estimated loss
arising from the inability of its borrowers to make the required
payments. The Group makes its estimates based on the aging
of its loans receivable balances, borrowers’ creditworthiness
and historical write-off experience. If the financial condition of
its borrowers was to deteriorate so that the actual impairment
loss might be higher than expected, the Group would be
required to revise the basis of making the allowance and its
future results would be affected.

Impairment of accounts receivable

The provision for impairment of accounts receivable of the
Group is based on the evaluation of collectibility and the
aging analysis of the receivables and on the judgement of
management. A considerable amount of judgement is required
in assessing the ultimate realisation of these receivables,
including the current creditworthiness and the past collection
history of the customers. Management reassesses the
estimation regularly throughout the reporting period.

Measurement of unlisted investments at fair value

The fair values of financial instruments that are not traded
in an active market are estimated by management based on
the valuation performed by independent qualified valuers by
using valuation techniques that requires various sources of
information and assumptions. The carrying amount of the
Group's unlisted investment at fair value through profit or
loss as at 31 March 2013 was approximately HK$7,585,000
(2012: HK$5,905,000). The Group also had unlisted available-
for-sale investment stated at fair value with a carrying amount
of HK$120,000,000 as at 31 March 2012. Further details are
given in notes 19, 23 and 39 to these financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of each
reporting period. Indefinite life intangible assets are tested for
impairment annually and at other times when such an indicator
exists. Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment
when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not
be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying value
of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell
and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value less costs
to sell is based on available data from binding sales transactions
in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable
market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset.
When value in use calculations are undertaken, management
must estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset
or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant
management judgement is required to determine the amount
of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the
likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with
future tax planning strategies. The amount of unrecognised
tax losses at 31 March 2013 was HK$1,388,594,000 (2012:
HK$1,611,311,000). Further details are contained in note 27 to
these financial statements.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and has
reportable operating segments as follows:

(a) the trading of securities segment engages in the purchase
and sale of securities and the securities investment;

(b)  the provision of finance segment engages in the provision
of financing services in Hong Kong;

(c) the insurance brokerage business segment engages
in insurance brokerage business and the provision of
financial planning and related services;

(d) securities brokerage, placing, underwriting and margin
financing in Hong Kong;

(e) the investment holding segment engages in holding
investments for continuing strategic or long term
purposes, primarily for their dividend income and capital
appreciation;

(f)  the corporate finance advisory segment engages in
corporate finance advisory services and related activities;
and

(g) the property holding and investment segment engaged
primarily in the investments in commercial and residential
properties for their rental income potential and/or their
appreciation in values. During the year ended 31 March
2012, the property holding and investment segment
was classified as a discontinued operation of the Group.
Further details are set out in note 12 to these financial
statements.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
(loss), which is a measure of adjusted profit/(loss) before tax.
The adjusted profit/(loss) before tax is measured consistently
with the Group's profit/(loss) before tax except that bank and
other interest income (excluding interest income from provision
of finance), finance costs as well as head office and corporate
expenses are excluded from such measurement.

Intersegment transactions are made with reference to the prices
used for services made to third parties at the then prevailing
market prices.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. RESBER (&)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2013/As at 31 March 2013 EZE-=E=ZA=1+—-HLEEE R
—_E-=H=H=+—H
Discontinued
Continuing operations operation
BREEEY RIESEEH
Securities
brokerage,
placing,
Insurance  undenwriting Corporate Property
Trading of ~ Provision  brokerage and margin Investment finance holding and
securities  of finance  business  financing holding ~ advisory  Subtotal investment Total
RHRE-
BE B VESZC

BERE RUME RBEEEY RARRE REER LERBEREM Nt kK& @t
HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 ~ HKS$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000
BETR  B¥Tn  ERTR BT  BMTr  ERBTR  B¥Tn  ERTx  BETR

Segment revenue: AENE:
Sales to external customers  ANEIEF 2 HE 44,739 4,559 626 23,842 - 1,935 75,701 - 75,701
Intersegment sales PEREE - - - - - - - - -
44,739 4,559 626 23,842 - 1,935 75,701 - 75,701

Reconciliation: HE:
Elimination of intersegment M E 4

sales - - -
Total revenue gt 75,701 - 75,701
Segment results TEEE 231,161 4,402 38 17,048 103,043 934 356,626 - 356,626
Reconciliation: HE:
Bank interest income FAFBHRA 59 - 59
Other interest income EFSMA 931 - 931
Corporate and other RAREMADE

unallocated expenses k3 (19,151) - (19,151)
Finance costs BEKK (9,251) - (9,251)
Profit before tax BB AET 329,214 - 329214
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. RESBER (&)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2013/As at 31 March 2013 BZ-_T—=Ff=A=+—-ALFE R
—_E—=%=H=+-—H
Discontinued
Continuing operations operation
BREERY RIEBEEH
Securities
brokerage,
placing,
Insurance  undenwriting Corporate Property
Trading of ~ Provision  brokerage and margin Investment finance holding and
securities  of finance  business  financing holding  advisory  Subtotal investment Total
BHRE-
BE B8 ESSC]

BXEE  RUBE RREEXE RARBE RERR CXBEER Mt REE ai
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
EMTr BMTR  EETR  ARTR  BETR  B%Tx  BERTn  BETn EMTx

Other segment information: Eft2EE# :
Share of profits and losses of 7 {582 2 & F| & -

associates BE - - - 51,700 - 51,700 - 51,700
Impairment of an available-for- 7 £/t &£ R A R (8
sale investment - - - - (1,398) - (1,398) - (1,398)
Depreciation E
- operating segment —RELR - - - (410) - - (410) - (410)
- unallocated -RAHE (848) - (848)
(1,258) (1,258)
Investment in an associate i il YN
&E - - - - 1,102,754 - 1,102,754 - 1,102,754
Capital expenditure EARX
— operating segment —BenE - - - 940 - - 940 - 940
- unallocated ~RAE 232 - 232
1,172% 1,172%
* Capital expenditure represented additions to property, plant and * BRI DIABYE BEREE-
equipment.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Year ended 31 March 2012/As at 31 March 2012

—F2-=4=H=+—H

BE-E——H=A=+—-HLEE R
—E-—F=ZHB=+—H

Discontinued
Continuing operations operation
BEREEY RIBEER
Securities
brokerage,
placing,
Insurance  underwriting Corporate Property
Trading of ~ Provision  brokerage and margin  Investment finance holding and
securities  of finance business  financing holding advisory Subtotal  investment Total
BHEL
REREL HE 4 PERE NELEE
REEE RURE £% LRFRRME REEBR B et 585 o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT B¥Trn BT BETr  AETr BBt BT BT BETrx
Segment revenue: FRNE:
Sales to external customers SR P ZHE (25,755) 11,221 3,983 13,336 5974 - 8,759 283 9,047
Intersegment sales PEREE - - - - - - - - -
(25,755) 11,221 3,983 13,336 5974 - 8,759 288 9,047
Reconciliation: aE:
Elimination of intersegment sales 7 58 ] & £ 84 - - -
Total revenue lhenrats 8,759 288 9,047
Segment results PEEE (486,502) 10,489 (1,809) 8,294 (167,877) - (637,405 24,134 (613,271)
Reconciliation: HE:
Bank interest income RFBRA 8 - 8
Other interest income EMFBBA 1,002 - 1,002
Corporate and other RAREREAE
unallocated expenses X (17,457) - (17,457)
Finance costs RMERK (8,483) - (8,483)
Profit/(loss) before tax BRHAEH/ (F8) (662,335 24,134 (638,201)
Other segment information: E 2 EEH
Share of profits and losses of 7 {58 & 2 85 7| &
associates B - - - - (140,818) - (140,818) - (140,818)
Impairment of an available-for- A/ H &K A E
sale investment - - - - (6,282) - (6,282) - (6,282)
Impairment of other receivables £t fE 48R 3R - - - - (2,700) - (2,700) - (2,700)
Reversal of impairment of M E R ERE
a loan receivable - 526 - - - - 526 - 526
Depreciation eE
- operating segment -BENE - - (22) (98) (6) - (126) - (126)
- unallocated -AxAE (768) - (768)
(894) (894)
Investment in an associate R-ABEREZ
"E - - - - 904,742 - 904,742 - 904,742
Capital expenditure EARY
- operating segment ~BENE - - - 679 168,083 - 168,762 - 168,762
- unallocated v 342 - 342
169,104* 169,104*
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and * BEARASTBEANBEYE BEREE - A

HHERERETEE (B RE— K
BRBMBZEE) °

equipment, available-for-sale investments and an intangible asset
including assets from the acquisition of a subsidiary.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
Geographical information

(@) The Group's revenue is derived from its external
customers in Hong Kong.

(b)  Non-current assets

Hong Kong BB

The non-current asset information above is based on the
location of assets and excludes financial instruments and
deferred tax assets.

Information about major customers
Included in revenue arising from major customers individually
accounted for over 10% of the Group’s revenue for the year:

Provision of finance R E
Customer A =ZFEH
Customer B ®EZ

Securities brokerage, placing, underwriting
and margin financing
Customer C
Customer D

EFPA
EFPT

The Group's dividend income and gains/(losses) from the sale
of investments at fair value through profit or loss are excluded
from total revenue for the purpose of identifying major
customers of the Group who accounted for over 10% of the
Group's revenue.

BFfL KE B
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4, BREHBER (#)

& E R

(a) AEEZzWHREEFBILES -

(b) FRBEE

2013 2012
—E—-=F —E——F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT
1,106,978 909,071

ERFRBEEERABEEMELS
iz EPAUTERSBTAMEL

MIREE -

EHEXEEFHNESR

BREENSBEREAREETEZEFLZEK
o BIEAEEAFEREERI0%

2013 2012
—E-=F —E—ZF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
- 7,897
- 2,893
- 10,790
HEAERE
3,279 -
- 3,326
3,279 3,326

AEBERBWARKELEZRBEZAR
FEFIEZIRE 2R, (BER) Tt AL
Wi BUREBAEEZEZERS  EhA
EEWZHERE1I0% °
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. W& Bt A K Rz

Revenue, which is also the Group's turnover, under continuing BEREEBR 2N (TAREE 2 &%
operations, represents interest income earned from provision of ) IEF R EMSH WA RAEE
finance; dividend income from equity investments; net gains/ BBREWA: NEEBIBmNARTET
(losses) from the sale of investments at fair value through BR2IREZ W (EE)FE: RBEL
profit or loss; insurance brokerage income; corporate finance WA EEREEME: BFEEMERE
advisory fee; commission and brokerage income from securities w A BENRESREES  ARTFER
dealings; commission from underwriting and placing services; BEMRAS 2 B o B I K e W 8 8 4 5
and interest income on margin financing activities during the Z@Tﬂ%ﬂﬁl)\ﬂ?ﬂ\mﬂ:i‘“”‘%i%ﬁ’]qﬁl

year. The gross rental income received and receivable from CHBERNZEY B EmEME12 .
investment properties was included under the revenue of the

discontinued operation as set out in note 12 to these financial

statements.
An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as follows: W B AR am 2 T :
Group
AEH
2013 2012
—E—-=F T F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 BT T BT
Revenue W &=
Interest income from provision of finance 2L ELE FT15F| B U A 4,559 11,221
Dividend income from investments at fair 818 %5 LA A $T§§|JEEZ
value through profit or loss ®E 7R EHA 19,115 12,579
Dividend income from an available-for- &t & 18 & > i B U A
sale investment - 5,974
Gains/(losses) from the sale of HEBBEDARNFETYEE
investments at fair value through profit 21 & 2 Uz, (E518)
or loss, net (note) FEE (FMIEE) 25,624 (38,334)
Insurance brokerage income REELBA 626 3,983
Corporate finance advisory fee TrEREREER 1,935 -
Commission and brokerage income from #F5E#H Be RGN
securities dealings 1,045 1,179
Commission from underwriting and B EEERBEE
placing services 10,621 10,355
Interest income on margin financing FREME RS 2 F EMA
activities 12,176 1,802
Attributable to continuing operations JEMGIBREER 75,701 8,759
Attributable to the discontinued JEAE#2  E IS 3T
operation 12 - 288
75,701 9,047
Other income and gains H b A & Uz
Bank interest income HRITH S WA 59 8
Other interest income H A7) B U A 931 1,002
Gain on changes in shareholding interests B’\Hy N R S Y Yias
in associates, net peck-cl 18 39,243 1,501
Gain on disposal of an available-for-sale Hj’%—H#Hj’%TQEZWf\T&
investment 19 18,466 -
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries, net LEHE R A2 W TR 32 - 265
Reversal of impairment of a loan FE W E FOR (B # B
receivable - 526
Foreign exchange differences, net HNES AR E RER R - 120
Others EAh 717 4,734
Attributable to continuing operations FEAE#5 B A ST 59,416 8,156
Attributable to the discontinued JEAG 4% F IS 5T
operation 12 - 23,899
59,416 32,055
Note: The gross proceeds from sale of investments at fair value through e FAHEEBRBEUATEIERNKRE

FT1S Z B A% %) /78 1209,498,0007T
(ZZ——4:/%%219,878,0007T ) °

profit or loss for the year are approximately HK$209,498,000
(2012: HK$219,878,000).
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PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 6. BREIANEF A (EE)

The Group's profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after charging/ AEBZBRBAES(BE)ENKR,
(crediting) the amounts as set out below. The disclosures (FEA) Tl &5 A sERT2F M EE
presented in this note include those amounts charged/(credited) B BERKIEREEBNR, (GFA)/
in respect of the discontinued operation. ZERE-

2013 2012

—E—-=F —EF—=
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt & BT T BT T
Depreciation e 14 1,258 894
Employee benefit expenses (excluding EE®BAFESZ (TRIEES
directors’ remuneration (note 8)): Bi& (MEE8) ) :
Wages, salaries and allowances T& FoekEF 6,178 6,196
Retirement benefit scheme RAEMFTEHR (FE
contributions (defined contribution B RET &) *
schemes)* 230 155
6,408 6,351
Auditors’ remuneration = e A B & 3,388 3,345
Minimum lease payments under BIFEEROT 0 RIEF
operating leases in respect of land and X2 HIEFAEFIE
buildings 7,737 5,991
Loss on disposal/write-off of items of HE /MEME- BB &&
property, plant and equipment #IEE 28 19 32
Impairment of an available-for-sale AHEERE ZRE**
investment** 19 1,398 6,282
Direct operating expenses arising on MBS REMEMESE
rental-earning investment properties LEEEERY - 23
Rental income on investment properties & &% 2 A& W AR & #
less direct operating expenses of EERIAREIEL(ZF
HK$Nil (2012: HK$23,000) — Z 4 : B %23,0007T) - (265)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries, net LEKEB ARz W FiE 32 - (24,164)
Fair value changes on derivative financial 74 % g T B 2 A F(E %
instruments, net** R - 14,677
Impairment of other receivables** EL A R 5 R TE R - 2,700
Reversal of impairment of a loan FE W E OB B B 5
receivable 20 - (526)
* At 31 March 2013, the Group had no material forfeited * RZFE—=F=ZA=+—8 FrEEIE
contributions available to reduce its contributions to the BB ER - BUR A B AR REUE 2R IK
retirement benefit schemes in future years (2012: Nil). BRAFEEHR(ZE——F &) -
**  These balances are included in "“Other expenses, net” in the *ok

consolidated income statement.

xR

ERB I ARE KRR 2 [
T
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7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BMERE
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BEKASTIT :
Group
rEH
2013 2012
—E—-=F e
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T R T
Interests on other loans wholly repayable 7B T 4 A sk 1% Z kB &
within five years or on demand and BERTAFELE
attributable to continuing operations — ¥% 2z HhE R Z F 8 9,251 8,483
8. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION 8. EEM<E

70

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange

TIHARREBEEEMARIMERRAES
ETRR(TETRAN) REERBEDISE

of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and Section 161 of 16EEBR 2 FNESHE
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:
Group
KEE
2013 2012
—E—-=F —EF—=
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Fees ik 775 830
Other emoluments: H A5 -
Salaries and other benefits FeREMET 5,216 5,654
Equity-settled share option expense NS A E B IRE 2 X - 60
Retirement benefit scheme contributions BRIKEFFIEMHER (TEHR
(defined contribution scheme) =& 112 111
5,328 5,825
6,103 6,655
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 8. EEM<E #)
(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BIAKHTES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors FAENBYIERTES 2RSS N
during the year were as follows: N
2013 2012
—EB-=F T F
Equity-settled
share option
Fees Fees expense Total
AR E
bk e BREZRAX L]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BET T BETT BET T

Mr. Gary Drew Douglas Gary Drew

Douglas%t & 120 120 15 135
Mr. Peter Temple Whitelam Peter Temple
Whitelam % 4 120 120 - 120
Dr. Agustin V. Que Agustin V. Que
Ha 120 120 - 120
Mr. Frank H. Miu* BHkE 120 35 15 50
Mr. Hung Cho Sing* HEAE 2 oA 55 - - -
Mr. Yau Chung Hong* o0 v - 85 - 85
535 480 30 510
There were no other emoluments payable to the FRANEENBIIEMITERT ZEM
independent non-executive directors during the year e (ZT——F &)
(2012: Nil).
(b) Executive directors and non-executive directors (b) BITEERIHTESE
Retirement
Salaries benefit
and other scheme Total
Fees benefits contributions remuneration

HFER RAKEF
e Hi @R T BT MemE
2013 —E-=F HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
BT BET T BETR BT

Executive directors: WITESH:
Mr. Lo Kan Sun EEHLE - 1,000 50 1,050
Mr. Hui Quincy Kwong Hei  #FERRL A - 2,101 14 2,115
Ms. Au Shuk Yee, Sue R R £ - 670 34 704
Ms. Chow Mun Yee P 7/ E - 970 14 984
Mr. Scott Allen Phillips** Scott Allen Phillips
Vil - 475 - 475
- 5,216 112 5,328
Non-executive directors: ERTES:
Mr. Andrew Liu BERmitE 120 - - 120
Mr. Liu Kam Fai, Winston BeEtE 120 - - 120
240 - - 240
240 5,216 112 5,568
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8. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION (continued) 8. EEM=E »
(b) Executive directors and non-executive directors (b) BMITEERFFTES (&)
(Continued)
Equity-

settled Retirement

Salaries share benefit
and other option scheme Total
Fees benefits expense contributions remuneration

ek NUERAE PN R
ik Htnf@h BEREZFAX BEEA ek
2012 —E-CF HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT

Executive directors: WITES:
Mr. Lo Kan Sun EEHELE - 1,040 - 52 1,092
Mr. Hui Quincy Kwong — #FEREAE
Hei - 2,113 - 12 2,125
Ms. Au Shuk Yee, Sue  FIflfER + - 705 15 35 755
Mr. Scott Allen Phillips  Scott Allen
Phillips %t & - 845 - - 845
Ms. Chow Mun Yee P R/E - 951 15 12 978
Dr. Yang Fan Shing, BRI L
Andrew** 60 - - - 60
60 5,654 30 111 5,855
Non-executive directors: JEH{TE S :
Mr. Andrew Liu Btk 120 - - - 120
Mr. Liu Kam Fai, BBt
Winston 120 - - - 120
Mr. Cheng Chi Ming, B ST A
Brian* 50 - - - 50
290 - - - 290
350 5,654 30 111 6,145
* Appointed during the year ended 31 March 2013 * REBZE-_ZT—==A=+—H1It
FEERMT
**  Resigned during the year ended 31 March 2013 o REECZE-=F=A=+—H1F
FERHE
# Appointed during the year ended 31 March 2012 # REBZE-_ZT—-——F=A=+—H1t
FEERT
# Resigned or retired during the year ended 31 March 2012 "oOREEZE-——_F#=A=+—H1
FEBTSRT
There was no arrangement under which a director waived or RERNTEBERESHRRNEEHRRIEM
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2012: Nil). e (ZE——F &)
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FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9. IfUESHFEES
The five highest paid employees during the years ended 31 HE_Z =Rk —-F=A=+—
March 2013 and 2012 were also directors of the Company, HEFEARUSERFEEHAARARE
details of whose remuneration are disclosed in note 8 above. EHEZHEFBFHN EXHFES -
. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. FREBIRAX
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% ERBMNEBHIERHEI65% (ZFT—=
(2012: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in F:16.5% ) HFRNRBBEEZHFTER
Hong Kong during the year. Tim AEH R B -
2013 2012
—E—-=F —ET—_F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Group: NEE
Current — Hong Kong AR IE-F B
Charge for the year REFZZH 1,792 2,244
Overprovision in prior year M FEBEREE - (2,475)
Deferred (note 27) PEIE (P 5E27) - (47)

Tax charge/(credit) attributable to continuing FHEKLEBK s HEBES L,/
operations (&%) 1,792 (278)
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 10. FRIEHEAX (&)
A reconciliation of the tax charge/(credit) applicable to profit/ T RBEBEBEEMEFE 2 FEREE
(loss) before tax from continuing operations at the Hong Kong BHREALES, (BB BRAZHES LY
statutory tax rate to the tax charge/(credit) at the Group's (BR)EUAEEERREAEIHIEX
effective tax rate is as follows: () 28R
Group
AEE
2013 2012
—E—-=F —E——F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Profit/(loss) before tax from continuing BERKESEBEZBBEIER
operations (E#E) 329,214 (662,335)

Tax charge/(credit) at the Hong Kong statutory Z&BATERH K165 8 2 Hi1B

tax rate of 16.5% 2 (ER) 54,320 (109,285)
Adjustments in respect of current tax of B RTEAME 2 BN ERRL IE 2 A %R

previous periods - (2,475)
Income not subject to tax AR 2 WA (10,231) (21,115)
Expenses not deductible for tax AT AX 2,909 24,366
Temporary differences not recognised ANERZ B ER 73 (1,030)
Tax losses utilised from previous periods B ABTHB MG EE (38,203) (1,399)
Tax losses not recognised RIER 2 BT E 18 1,454 87,425
Tax effect of share of results of associates DIEBERNREE BT E (8,530) 23,235

Tax charge/(credit) at the Group's effective tax 1R AN & 2 B B H £0.54%

rate of 0.54% (2012: 0.04%) ZE-ZF:0.04%)FTEZ
BEX W, (EE) 1,792 (278)
The share of tax attributable to associates amounting to DAEEEE R R 2 BB RS 1,271,000
HK$1,271,000 (2012: HK$998,000) is included in “Share of —T— 4 : B#998,0007T) 't EBRIET
profits and losses of associates” in the consolidated income FEWEERA[HIEEE RN RERE]
statement. —IF-

11. PROFIT/(LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS M. XATEE AEERZR

OF THE COMPANY (B#8)

The consolidated profit (2012: loss) attributable to owners of AKEERARNGHEARMLGEGRZN (ZF

the Company for the year includes a profit of HK$194,808,000 — —F 51E) B mF)E 194,808,000

(2012: loss of HK$564,106,000) which has been dealt with in T(ZZT— % :FHEHB%564,106,000

the financial statements of the Company (note 30(b)). TTIEERRARZHMBHREPERE (3
30(b)) ©
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12. DISCONTINUED OPERATION 12, BRI EK
In April 2011, the Company disposed of the Group's RIZEBE——FWNA AR HEREER
entire interest in Future Master Investments Limited and Future Master Investments Limited K& E fff
its subsidiaries (“Future Master Group”). Future Master B2 &l ([Future MasterE @ |) KT A #E
Group's principal business was property investment that held e Future Master EEMEZEBKAFHE
commercial properties in Hong Kong. Further details of the BEAZERADENDERE-EZHE
disposal are included in note 32 to these financial statements. ZHEBEHRZEVBRERWE32 -HE
After the disposal of Future Master Group, the Group Future Masterfe @& RNEEKRIFEYE
discontinued its property holding and investment operation. BERIREXE-
The results of Future Master Group for the year ended 31 Future Masters @& E =T ——F =R
March 2012 are presented below. T —HLEFECEEZINAT
Note HK$'000
Bt 5E BT
Revenue Wz 5 288
General and administrative expenses — M RITHAX (53)
Profit before tax from the discontinued operation — #% [ &% %4 2 75 (% 4 51 )i 7 235
Gain on disposal of the discontinued operation HEXIFEEERL 2 W= 5 23,899
Profit for the year from the discontinued operation #& | 4% & 5 75 & £ % 7 24,134
(Restated)
(AEE )
Earnings per share: BRAEF :
Basic and diluted, from the discontinued AERREE RIFEEXETE
operation FEHEHKS0.787T

The calculations of basic earnings per share from R IFEEEE P FRERBFZETHER:
the discontinued operation are based on:

Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the AR A EBIREREE ABERIEEEEB 2E  HKEBEB T

Company from the discontinued operation l 24,134,000
(Restated)
(#Z5))
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in T ESRERZFKA 2 FRNE T E BRI
issue during the year used in the basic earnings #1392 (Hf5E13(a))
per share calculation (note 13(a)) 30,674,746
The net cash flows incurred by Future Master Future MasterR BlE Z - ——F=A=+T—HIEFEEEN
Group for the year ended 31 March 2012 were as B&RE/FEWT -
follows:
HK$'000
BEF T
Net cash flows from operating activities wEEEFEHRERNEFE 2,845
Net cash flows used in financing activities BEFRESMARSNEFHE (2,845)
Net cash inflow WERMAFRE -
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13. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

76

(a)

(b)

Basic earnings/(loss) per share

The calculation of basic earnings (2012: loss) per share
amounts is based on the profit (2012: loss) for the year
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company
of HK$327,502,000 (2012: loss of HK$639,172,000),
and the weighted average number of 91,912,471 (2012:
30,674,746, as restated) ordinary shares in issue during
the year. The basic earnings/(loss) per share amounts for
the years ended 31 March 2013 and 2012 have been
adjusted to reflect share consolidations and rights issues
during respective reporting periods and/or subsequent to
respective end of the reporting periods.

The calculation of basic earnings (2012: loss) per share
amounts from continuing operations is based on the
profit (2012: loss) for the year from continuing operations
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company
of HK$327,502,000 (2012: loss of HK$663,306,000)
and the weighted average number of 91,912,471 (2012:
30,674,746, as restated) ordinary shares in issue during
the year. The basic earnings/(loss) per share amounts
from continuing operations for the years ended 31
March 2013 and 2012 have been adjusted to reflect
share consolidations and rights issues during respective
reporting periods and/or subsequent to respective end of
the reporting periods.

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share
The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in
issue during the years ended 31 March 2013 and 2012.

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

1B. AR EERESEAELS

BEFN(ER)
(a) SREXRA (FR)

(b)

ERERAZFN(ZE—ZF:F#E)
SR NRARTREBBREEE AR
EAREFEEMN(ZE—ZF:858)
75#5327,502,0007C ( ZE——4&F 1 j§5
1B #639,172,0007T) * UEEARD
BT LB 2 AT 192091,912,471
f% (—Z— — 4 :30,674,7460% ' £
B E-BRE-_T—=FK_F
——F A=t HIFEZSKE
KEF, (FE) CIERAE  ARB®
EHMEHER, KRS REHREBEE
RIR% D& OF AR A%

BECEER 2 EREAREN (ZF
——F:EFEE)eBE NERARAE
BREFEABGAFERELE
¥ RN (ZE——F BB
#327,502,000C (= — =4 : {18
B 1#663,306,0007T) AR FRE 3%
TE B INREF52091,912,471
B ( —ZF — —4:30,674,746/% * &
B E-HE-_ZT—Z=ZFRK_ZF
——FZAZ+BULEEHELS
¥B2ERELARN(BE)EE
AR URMASREHEARHE
MEHRBIEEORDA O LR

EREBERAN(FB)

HE-_ T =R -_FT—-—F=#
=+ —HIEFE AEBWED T
VETHSH L m A o
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% BERRE
Group rEH
Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures and Computer
improvements equipment equipment Total
HEWE B -£E
&1 REE B wa
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BETT BT T
31 March 2013 —®-=4=8
=+—H
At 31 March 2012 and at WZE—=—F=A
1 April 2012: —t+t—B8k=F
——FMA—A8:
Cost DN 182 4,962 1,236 6,380
Accumulated depreciation ZEIE (3) (1,488) (899) (2,390)
Net carrying amount REFE 179 3,474 337 3,990
At 1 April 2012, net of RZE—ZFMAH—
accumulated depreciation H HKRZRFHE 179 3,474 337 3,990
Additions NE 722 182 268 1,172
Disposals/write-off s s - - (19) (19)
Depreciation provided during 4 R 2 37 & B 15
the year (246) (747) (265) (1,258)
At 31 March 2013, net of R-ZE—=F=A4
accumulated depreciation =+—B -{1KBRR
IE 655 2,909 321 3,885
At 31 March 2013: R-ZE—=F=HA
=+—8:
Cost B 904 5,144 1,468 7,516
Accumulated depreciation 2itine (249) (2,235) (1,147) (3,631)
Net carrying amount REFE 655 2,909 321 3,885
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. % BERRE (&)
(Continued)
Group rEHE
Leasehold Furniture,
land and Leasehold  fixtures and Computer
buildings improvements equipment equipment Total
AEL HEME G -KE
RiEF £ ' B B

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BRI BETT

31 March 2012 —E--fF=A8
=t+-8
At 1 April 2011: RZE——FNOA—
H:
Cost X2 27,481 8,730 15,018 1,693 52,922
Accumulated depreciation ~ RiPITE (4,210) (4,524) (8,929) (1,351) (19,014)
Net carrying amount EmFE 23,271 4,206 6,089 342 33,908
At 1 April 2011, net of RZZE——FHmA—
accumulated depreciation Bk RiTineE 23,271 4,206 6,089 342 33,908
Additions RE - 181 136 118 435
Acquisition of a subsidiary  WEHIB D7)
(note 31(a)) (KIsE31(a)) - 1 88 161 250
Disposal of subsidiaries HEWB QA
(note 32) (B3E32) (23,271) (4,206) (2,132) (68) (29,677)
Disposals/write-off HE s - - 9) (23) (32)
Depreciation provided during & /2 37 & & &
the year - (3) (698) (193) (894)
At 31 March 2012, netof ~RZ-ZZE—Z—F=A
accumulated depreciaton =+ —H K Z
FHiE - 179 3,474 337 3,990
At 31 March 2012: RZT-Z_%F=A
—+—8:
Cost B A - 182 4,962 1,236 6,380
Accumulated depreciation 2 E - (3) (1,488) (899) (2,390)
Net carrying amount EmFE - 179 3,474 337 3,990
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15. REYE

Group
rEE
2013 2012
—E—-=F —E——F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt 5 BT BEF T
Carrying amount at beginning of year R F#) 2 BREE - 140,854
Disposal of subsidiaries HEKEB QA 32 - (140,854)
Carrying amount at 31 March R=ZA=+—RAZEHEMA - -
16. INTANGIBLE ASSET 16. B EE
Trading right REHE
Group
rEE
2013 2012
—E—=F —E——F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt & BT BT T
Carrying amount at beginning of year 42 lRmE & 339 -
Acquisition of a subsidiary U BE B B A A 31(a) - 339
Carrying amount at 31 March R=ZA=+—BZEKEAE 339 339

RIEXHERRSEERERFHY
RIEMHAKE 2 FREREZARMITE
BR il » U1 I 8 4 5 o

The trading right has been considered to have an indefinite life
because it is expected to contribute to the net cash flows of the
Group indefinitely, which is not amortised.
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17. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES/BALANCES

80

WITH SUBSIDIARIES

17. RMB AR 2 RE, "EH B A
T 45 BR

Company
AT
2013 2012
—E-=F —E—ZF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT
Unlisted investments, at cost ELEMEE  BRAA 34,360 34,360

Except for amounts due from subsidiaries of HK$763,088,000,
net of impairment of HK$87,140,000 (2012: HK$591,206,000,
net of impairment of HK$109,361,000) which bear interest
at rates ranging from 2% to 2.5% per annum (2012:
2.5% per annum), the remaining balances with subsidiaries
included in the Company's current assets and liabilities of
HK$1,403,573,000, net of impairment of HK$1,326,570,000
(2012: HK$1,015,697,000, net of impairment of
HK$1,504,344,000) and HK$6,753,000 (2012: HK$4,785,000),
respectively, are interest-free, and all these balances are
unsecured and are repayable on demand or within twelve
months from the end of the reporting period.

The movements in provision for impairment of amounts due
from subsidiaries are as follows:

BRIZFMNENT2BZ25B(-_ZF— =
FoFERNR2SE)GFEZEKKER
Al BB 763,088,000 T (154 R (B
B #-87,140,000L) (T — — 4
7B 591,206,000 T (0B & (B & &
109,361,0007T) )50 5 AR Q&R B
EENBEBEZESHMBRAL LD 5
A #1,403,573,0007T (315 R & 5
#1,326,570,00070) (=& — — F:
B #1,015,697,0007T (30 5% R E B
1,504,344,0007T) ) & % #6,753,0007C
(ZZT— 4 :B14,785,0007T) ' ZEH
AR S B R AR Bk ERE
KE+—EAREE-

EUHBARFEREREBEZZSHNT:

Company
P NN

2013 2012
—E—-=F - F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
At beginning of year F1 1,613,705 1,098,705
Impairment loss recognised/(reversed) SRR, (BLO)RERA (199,935) 531,850
Disposal/deregistration of subsidiaries HE B AR (60) (16,850)
At 31 March W=A=+—H 1,413,710 1,613,705

At 31 March 2013, impairment was recognised for certain
amounts due from subsidiaries with an aggregate carrying
amount of HK$3,390,769,000 (2012: HK$3,242,604,000)
(before deducting the impairment loss) because certain
subsidiaries have suffered losses over the years and the
amounts are considered as not recoverable. The remaining
amounts due from subsidiaries are neither past due nor
impaired and the directors of the Company are of the opinion
that these balances are fully recoverable.

The carrying amounts of these amounts due from/to
subsidiaries approximate to their fair values.

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

R-ZE—=%=A=+—HB AQ7FCH
IR 42(E &8 #3,390,769,000T (==
— 4 5 #3,242,604,0007T) (KRB
BEEBE)ZETERNEBRAZEER
BE AEETHEBRARARNBEFMZE
BRIED R BT A B - Rl &k e I B A
RAIREHRBPBERBE ARAAESER
BREEST2HKE -
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17. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES/BALANCES
WITH SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Name

=L

Ambition Union Limited
THARAT

Eastern Sunny Limited
RBERAA

Freeman Corporate Finance Limited

REGERMEER AR

Freeman Financial Investment
Corporation

Freeman Financial Investment

Corporation

Freeman Financial Services Limited

REERREBERDA

Harvest Financial Services Limited

SHEHMREARAR

Freeman Securities Limited ("FSL")

Freeman United Investments Limited
Freeman United Investments Limited

Hansom Finance Limited

ERBBERAT

Smart Jump Corporation

Smart Jump Corporation

Nominal value
Place of of issued
incorporation ordinary
and operations share capital
TEMA LK BRTEE
E 3 RAHEE
British Virgin Islands/ Us$1
Hong Kong
KBRLHE /B 17T
Hong Kong HK$2
EE BT
Hong Kong HK$200,000
Bt 7%200,0007T
Cayman Islands/Hong ~ HK$10,000,000
Kong
MEES/EE 5100000007
Hong Kong HK$10,000,000
B 7%%10,000,0007C
Hong Kong HK$200,000
BiR 7 %200,0007T
Hong Kong HK$171,000,000
B 78 #171,000,0007T
Hong Kong HK$1
EE BRI
Hong Kong HK$2
Bk BT
British Virgin Islands/ US$1
Hong Kong
KBRS /B (E
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17. RHBARIZRE "HHE D
Tl &L ER (&)
FEMBATZHENT

Percentage
of equity
attributable to
the Company

AAFES
BB
Direct  Indirect
B f %
- 100
- 100
- 100
100 -
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 100
- 100

Principal
activities

TEER

Investment holding

Provision of management services

RLEE RS

Provision of corporate finance
advisory services

RECEBEBRRRE
Investment holding

REER

Investment holding

Provision of insurance brokerage
services, financial planning and
related services

RERREERE BRHRIARA
W MR 5

Securities brokerage and trading
of securities
BERBRERER

Investment holding

BEER

Provision of finance

RHERE

Trading in securities

o

BHE

pui}

K
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17. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES/BALANCES 17. RMIB AR 2RE "Hf B A

WITH SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) B A ER ()
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, EERA/LERHEIN2ARAMB AR RE
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results AEBCAFREEFTELENIBRA
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets SEEEFEIZEANLY 2HMBERF -
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in EERA WHEMHMBAR 2FE RS
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive BHERBARITK -
length.
18. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE 18. RBME QT2 RE
Group
KEHE
2013 2012
—E-=F —E——F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BEF T
Share of net assets FEIREEZE 1,102,754 904,742
Particulars of the principal associate at the end of the reporting RIERAR FEMERRIZFBTOT:
period are as follows:
Percentage of
ownership interest
Particulars of Place of attributable
Name issued shares held incorporation to the Group Principal activities
BEERTRS EEEEEHEEA
£8 Z#E ALt B BEZEOM TEXK
2013 2012
—E-Zf —T-——F
HEC Capital Limited ("HEC") Ordinary share of ~ Cayman Islands 19.57 - Investment holding, property
HK$0.10 each investment, commodities dealer,
money lending, nominees,securities
brokerage and financial services,
corporate finance advisory services,
asset management, investment
advisory and fund management
HEC Capital Limited ([HEC)) ~ BREEE%0. 10T AEEHE FTERERELR MERE BRR
LBk 5 EREB REA BFELRR
BR% CEMEBARE EEE
B RERMRESER
Allied Weli Development Limited  Ordinary share of  British Virgin Islands - 32.26 Investment holding of subsidiaries which
("Allied Weli") US$0.10 each are principally engaged in security
brokerage, commodity trading,
money lending, margin financing
and corporate finance advisory as
well as proprietary trading and direct
investment
Allied Weli Development Limited SREE0.10ET HEEZES FEREEBRRESRRY (REE
(TAllied Weli |) TRk FRE BAmRH ERER ARER

EREXREBREBUARLER S
REERE)ZWMBRAZREER
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18. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the
year and formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group.

The above investments in associates are indirectly held by the
Company. The associates have been accounted for using the
equity method in these financial statements.

During the year ended 31 March 2012, Allied Weli, a former
associate of the Group, completed certain equity changes
through direct allotment of new shares, issuance of convertible
notes and repurchased certain of its own shares, which had
resulted in an overall increase in the Group's equity interest in
Allied Weli from 31.92% as at 31 March 2011 to 32.26% as at
31 March 2012 and a net gain of approximately HK$1,501,000
resulting from the changes in shareholding interests in Allied
Weli was recorded by the Group during the year ended 31
March 2012.

In mid-May 2012, Freeman Financial Services Limited, a
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, received a letter
from Allied Weli, a former associate of the Group, which
underwent a reorganization (the "Reorganization”) pursuant
to which the Group’s shares in Allied Weli were cancelled
and exchanged for the same amount of shares in HEC,
a special purpose vehicle formed as a holding company
of Allied Weli and Cordoba Homes Limited (“Cordoba”).
Upon completion of the Reorganization, the Group owned
approximately 27.70% shareholding interest in HEC. Further
details of the Reorganization were disclosed in the Company’s
announcements dated 16 May 2012 and 17 August 2012.

HEC has further issued new shares and repurchased its
shares subsequent to the Reorganization, and the Group's
shareholding interest in HEC was then further diluted to
approximately 19.57% as at 31 March 2013. A net gain of
approximately HK$39,243,000 was resulted from the changes
in shareholding interests in associates during the year ended 31
March 2013.

Although the Group’s shareholding interest in HEC has been
reduced to below 20% as at 31 March 2013, in the opinion
of the directors, the Group's ability to exercise significant
influence over HEC has not been changed in considering,
but not limited to, the Group’s ability to exercise significant
influence, through its ability to exercise voting power, at the
meetings of shareholders and the board of directors of HEC.
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18. REEERNTIZ2RE (&)

EERRERBINZAKEBERRRY
AEEZAFEREBIBZERBRA
SEEEFETIEARBY 2B E T -

REBEE—_Z——F=A=t+—-RBILEE"
NEEFIB L QN AlAllied Weli B8 H & i
Bk, BOTUBRRERRBEE THE
BEROMTXE=ET BFEAEER
Allied Wel (I EBR A IEZH T ——F
A=t HA3I.RNWRENE-_T——F
= A=1+—H#H32.26% ' MR Allied Weli
O A% 4 B B EE AR B9 F U E 497886 1,501,000
TEAEERBE-_E——&E=A=+—
BIEFEEAR-

RZE——FRAHRE ARAI2EH B
NARESBBREER R FEEAREERA
B2 N Al Allied Welifhy (- R RE B
TEMA(TEHA]) B A& BERAlled
Weliz Bz 5 B 4 BUB K 2 BUAE R #tE HEC
Z & MHECAAllied Weli Rk iiEsEEH
RO ([HEDFERLZIER AT T
PREHRE  RNEEFEEHECK27.70% .2 1%
BHEZ ARERACEZSHBEERARR
—E——FRA+NBE-ZE—=-F)\AH
T+EBZAMEE-

HECEREARBRE —THITHRMOEE
BERD MAEER=_ZFE—=F=A
=+ —HBEBEHECZEREREZE—F
WEEE41957% - REE-_T—=—F=
A=+—BLFE BEQRERERE
B 2R A F U 2 40 BB 539,243,0007T ©

R-E—=F=ZA=+—H BEAEH
RHECZ IR TR EER20% LKL
ZE (BETRA) AEERHECKRE RS
FEZEEEH L BBETEREREES
FENE EEREAEENEERY
HECEIBE R ZE S -
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18. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information of the Group’s associate extracted from its
management accounts as at 31 March 2013 and 2012:

. RBEQAT2KRE (&)

TRIAXREERE QA 2 EE R
Ao ER _E—=ZFR_F—
F=A=+—HZEBKRE:

2013 2012
—E—-=F —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BET T
Assets BE 7,230,001 3,675,315
Liabilities afE 1,595,081 870,784
Revenue I = 526,432 289,697
Profit/(loss) wA (EE) 199,763 (436,169)
19. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 19. I HERE
Group Company
rEE NN
2013 2012 2013 2012
—g-=F —ET——F ZB-=F —T—_F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETxT ABETT #BETx BEBT
Listed investment in Hong Kong, WR&E EMIRE  EAF
at fair value (=1 1,986 17,693 - -
Unlisted investment, at fair value JELFHIEE A FE
(note 32) (FFs¥32) - 120,000 120,000 120,000
1,986 137,693 120,000 120,000

84

Available-for-sale investments represented the Group’s and the
Company’s investments in listed and unlisted equity securities
which are neither classified as held for trading nor designated
at fair value through profit and loss.

Unlisted investment as at 31 March 2012 represented the
Group’s 5.26% equity investment in Cordoba in conjunction
with its disposal of certain subsidiaries during the year ended
31 March 2012 (note 32).

In mid-April 2012, Cordoba underwent a reorganization
("Cordoba Reorganization”) pursuant to which each of the
then shareholders of Cordoba exchanged its shares in Cordoba
for the same number of shares in HEC. Upon the completion
of the Cordoba Reorganization, the Group and the Company
owned approximately 5.26% equity interest in HEC. At the
end of April 2012, HEC issued further shares to other investors
and the Group’s and the Company’s equity interest in HEC was
diluted to 3.18%.
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AHEEREEAEERARFAYE EH R
FLEMBRABLZ2NE  RFRAEZESFIE
DEAFBIFEEREEREBBRENRF
B8

RZE—ZF=ZR=+—HBZ¥ LK
B RRAKERFAREZ5.26%MER
B HERBREBEE_ZT——F=ZA=+—
RItFERERTHMBQE (ME32) -

RZE—ZFWNARE REETEEE
M TEEBEHR]) B HEEEHE
IR A E B D IRE R £ 8 ERHEC
5 - RIVEREEMATNE  AEBRA
NARHECHEB#)5.26% M AEwS - N =&
— —FANAE HECHE — 3T MH T
HR&E  mASKERANABRHECZ
AW #EE3.18% °



19. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

(Continued)

Subsequent to the Reorganization undergone by Allied Weli as
disclosed in note 18 to these financial statements, the Group
owned an aggregate equity interest of approximately 27.7% in
HEC immediately after the completion of the Reorganization,
and since then, HEC ceased to be an available-for-sale
investment of the Group.

During the year, the gross fair value gain in respect of the
Group’s listed available-for-sale investment recognised in
other comprehensive income amounted to approximately
HK$18,466,000 and such gain was reclassified from the
Group's available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve to
the consolidated income statement upon the disposal of the
Group's listed available-for-sale investment during the year.

The directors considered there was a significant decline in the
market value of the listed equity investment during the year
which indicated that the listed equity investment has been
impaired and an impairment loss of HK$1,398,000 (2012:
HK$6,282,000) has been reclassified from other comprehensive
income of HK$1,398,000 (2012: HK$6,282,000) to the
consolidated income statement for the year.

The Group's listed available-for-sale investment with an
aggregate carrying value at the end of the reporting period
of approximately HK$1,986,000 (2012: HK$17,693,000) was
pledged to certain financial institutions to secure certain margin
financing facilities provided to the Group (note 26).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the
market value of listed available-for-sale investment held by the
Group as at 31 March 2013 was approximately HK$2,500,000
(2012: HK$10,642,000).

20. LOANS RECEIVABLE

Loans receivable B E %
Impairment E
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19. B ERE (&)

Allied Weli#7TE#H ( RZEUEHRERM++
18) 1% REBERZEEHTKEBNHECHE
HH27.7% 2R - BZRFHG  HEC
BIFEABAEBMAIELHERE-

FA-AEELEHZAREEREZRF
BRRSCFAREMZEEA  £BL
375 1#18,466,0000T MABKRZE N F
AREEHEE EmZAfhERER:
MASERAHEEREEHRRHBEN IR
ERBWRER-

EERAE FALTHREREZMER
BT R ETREREDRE M
el (B 54878 1,398,000 (- & — =
F B e,282,000) EmEMETE K
AB#1,398,000c (ZE—Z—F | B%
6,282,000/ ) B DB EAFELHE K a=
i%o

RMEBRR AEB FTA@HEERE
Z R 2B 475 %1,986,000 (T ——
& B#17,693,00000) BRI FE TR
W URSASEERE s ETHERE
(F5£26) °

EA ZEMHHmREMNEBS KAEEN =
—ZF=ZRA=+—HFREAELTAMHH
ERENTELNAE2,500,000T (=
— — 4 :75%10,642,0007T) °

NHI

20. B E &

Less: Balances due within one year included in & : st ARBIEER —F A ZH

=]

current assets =

Non-current portion FERBE D

Group
rEE
2013 2012
—E—-=F —E——F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BEF T
6,034 11,007
- (9,000)
6,034 2,007
(4,623) (2,007)
1,411 -
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20. LOANS RECEIVABLE (continued)

86

Loans receivable represent receivables arising from the provision
of finance business of the Group, and bear interest at rates of
1% per month or 12% per annum (2012: ranging from 2%
above the Hong Kong dollar prime lending rate as quoted by
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited per
annum to 24% per annum). The grants of these loans were
approved and monitored by the Group’s management.

Loans receivable of the Group as at 31 March 2013 are
unsecured. As at 31 March 2012, certain loans receivable
with a carrying amount of HK$2,007,000 were secured by
the pledge of collateral and/or the provision of personal
guarantees/corporate undertakings by certain independent third
parties.

An aged analysis of the loans receivable (that are not
considered to be impaired) as at the end of the reporting
period, based on the payment due date, is as follows:

20. EWERK (&)

RUEEFTEARBERUBEXBAEEZ
EUWGRIA T AN EKIERF N FR12E

—E-CFUNTFERELBESRITA
PR B P ¥08 T R B BRI K N2E 2 F A
REMUBZ2FNER)FR -AKEEEED
HERL RERZEFER

R-_B—=%=A=+—-HB ~&E@
BUREFAERB - RZZT—Z=ZF=A
=+—H BEEEABEK2,007,0007T 2 fE
WERSEETBEYE A2 &FmE,
IR EAERARMREEAEESR -

RE\EMR RN RAFEZREE
K (REBRBREE) ZREDHITT

Group
rEH
2013 2012
—E—-=F —E——F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Neither past due nor impaired KA B RFE 6,034 2,007
The movements in provision for impairment of loans receivable BRERZREEEZSHOT :
are as follows:
Group
rEH
2013 2012
—E—-=F —E——F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
At beginning of year RE ) 9,000 16,902
Amount written off as uncollectible BEHIE AT E 2 £ 78 (9,000) (7,376)
Impairment loss reversed (note 6) B ORI ERE (KM56) - (526)
At 31 March R=RA=+—H - 9,000

As at 31 March 2012, included in the above provision for
impairment of loans receivable was a provision for individually
impaired loans receivable of HK$9,000,000 with a carrying
amount of HK$9,000,000. The individually impaired loans
receivable relate to a borrower that was in financial difficulties
or was in default and was not expected to be recoverable.

Loans receivable that were neither past due nor impaired relate

to a number of diversified borrowers for whom there was no
recent history of default.

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED
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T3 72 B 755 IR 26 ok B /) G2 3 BUTE B AR R R
[E] °

REMBERBEZEBEERESZTRIME
RABRE MRS ERA L EHR O -



Notes to Financial Statements

BB SRR A

31 March 2013 —F—=#=H=+—H

21. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 21. EUWRBRFX

Group
rEH
2013 2012
—E-=F T 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BEF T
Accounts receivable arising from the ordinary MW B ® %4 BREPELS
course of business of: JRE W BR K
- Dealing in securities -EH5EE
Clearing houses HEFT 88 4,707
Cash clients REEP - 48
Margin clients HFREP 136,763 37,610
— Insurance brokerage business - REBRELEES 35 -
136,886 42,365

The settlement terms of accounts receivable attributable to the
dealing in securities transactions are two days after trade date
except for the balance with margin clients which are repayable
on demand. The trading terms with customers of insurance
brokerage business are mainly on credit, except for new
customers where payment in advance is normally required. The
credit period of insurance brokerage business is generally 30
days, extending up to 90 days for major customers.

The above balances are all aged within 60 days, based on the
trade date.

As at 31 March 2013, except for margin loans receivable of
HK$136,763,000 (2012: HK$37,610,000), which were secured
by underlying equity securities, the Group did not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements over these balances.

Trading limits are set for customers. The Group seeks to
maintain tight control over its outstanding accounts receivable
in order to minimise the credit risk. Overdue balances are
regularly monitored by management.

Accounts receivable as at 31 March 2013 and 2012 relate
to a number of independent clients that have a good track
record with the Group and were not impaired. Based on past
experience, the directors of the Company were of the opinion
that no provision for impairment was necessary in respect of
these balances as there had not been a significant change
in credit quality and the balances were still considered fully
recoverable as at 31 March 2013 and 2012.

BRTHFERFPZHEBBREREEIN F
FEBXEBREROGZEVEREFBRARS
HEEMAE BERBRELEBEFNRS
B3 E2URERRET EHEF—R%
BETELEMNR —BME  REELEBHH
FEEHAE MEBEFAUAERER
%90H °

RERZ B8 il &% 2 iRk 560
HA -

BR-_ZT—=%f=A=+—-—0#8%
136,763,000 (=T — = F : B
37,610,0007T) 2 FE W 7 B & 3k LA K 4 8
BAFFEERRIN AEETERZS
EREFEEMEE R E (s B IgaE
i

EPXEBERBERS - NEBEHOHER
Wl RS BRE ST UKEE
RRRERE ERETHERARER-

R-E—=FR_FT——-F=A=+—8
ZERWEF IR E TR ASBE B RFEEA
W BUEF I ERE - RIBBEL
B ARRCEERA BARERAEERS
T ——FR_E——_F=ZA=1+—HULE
EANE - BESDER AT BEKE - i
A Z S ERIEL RERME-
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22. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 22. ANRCE RERHEMEWRCE
RECEIVABLES
Group Company
AEH AR
2013 2012 2013 2012

23.

88

B —T——F —ZEB-—=f —T——4F
HK$"000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
B¥FRT BB TT B¥TR BB TE

Prepayments and deposits R FERES 1,682 2,105 409 768
Other receivables H fth & W 5RIE 8,055 8,161 15 245

9,737 10,266 424 1,013
Less: Long term note receivable R R B (7,711) (7,711) - -
Current portion m BB 2,026 2,555 424 1,013
Other receivables balances are neither past due nor impaired Hf R FIB SR AR B A R RRE &
and the directors of the Company are of the opinion that these RAESRAZEHEHRAIEEIRE -

balances are fully recoverable.

The long term note receivable of the Group bears interest at AEEZEBREPEBRRETFHE6%
a fixed rate of 6% per annum with maturity due in February PR YR TE-—RFZARAE-
2015.
INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 23. EBBHRUAFEIEZRE
PROFIT OR LOSS
Group
rEH
2013 2012
—E-Z=F —E-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BEF T
Listed equity investments, at market value: TTHRERE - RTIE
Hong Kong BB 1,355,049 871,281
Singapore Nk 17,398 13,930
1,372,447 885,211
Unlisted investments, at fair value FELrTIRE BATE 7,585 5,905
1,380,032 891,116

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED



23.

24,

25.

INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

The investments as at 31 March 2013 and 2012 were
classified as held for trading. The Group's investments at
fair value through profit or loss with an aggregate carrying
value at the end of the reporting period of approximately
HK$1,380,032,000 (2012: HK$891,116,000) were pledged to
certain financial institutions to secure certain margin financing
facilities provided to the Group (note 26).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the
aggregate market value of listed equity securities held
by the Group as at 31 March 2013 was approximately
HK$1,250,192,000 (2012: HK$777,767,000).

Notes to Financial Statements
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23. EBRBERULTFEIRZKRE
(%)
RE—=FN_FT——HF=A=1+—H
RECHDBEARBEEEER - N EHK
ANREERBEBEZAANFEHINEZIZREZ
BRE 48B4 575 %1,380,032,0005T (==
— — 5 %891,116,0007T) T
ETomEE URSAEEERZET
FR#E (HE26) -

31 March 2013

R EZEMHERERA ALEER-F
—ZHFZAZFT—HFEBAZ ETRAEAES
2 HBT{EX AE1,250,192,000T (= F
— 4 B¥777,767,0007T) °

CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND 24. RERBITEHBRUARZIRE
RESTRICTED CASH RBe
Group Company
rEH b NN
2013 2012 2013 2012
2= - ZEBE-=F —T—=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT BEFTR ABETrx
Cash and bank balances e MIRITAEER 180,594 235,881 2,440 113,123
As at 31 March 2013 and 2012, all the cash and bank balances R-ZE—=kK-_FT———F=A=+—80"
of the Group were denominated in Hong Kong dollars. REEBEBMARS MBTEKH B TE
B
Certain cash at banks of the Group and of the Company earns REBRARRRBITZETRSIRES
interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. The HERTTFERAERZHMNEGFTE - RS R
carrying amounts of the cash and bank balances approximate RITHEBEEBEEEATERE
to their fair values.
The Group maintains trust accounts with authorised institutions REBRERERERITERPD T
in respect of clients’ monies arising from the course of EPRBLFEERREREARERS P
securities trading and the respective financing services. As at EEZHRE-RZE—=F=ZA=+—
31 March 2013, HK$2,530,000 (2012: HK$9,667,000) was held B AEBERREPNABIRFPHAER
by the Group on behalf of the clients in the trust accounts. The 2,530,0007T (=& — =4 : %%9,667,000
client monies as at 31 March 2013 and 2012 were not included L) RZEBE-—=FK_F—Z-F=A
in the Group's and the Company's balances of cash and bank T+ —HAMNEPRIBANET ALREE R
balances. RAIZBE S ERRIRITHE R
ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 25. FEE{TEE =X

The balances as at 31 March 2013 and 2012 were all aged
within 30 days.

R =ZFR-_TE——F=ZfF=+—
B @&k Rk B30 A -
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26. INTEREST-BEARING OTHER BORROWINGS 26. sFEHMEE
Group
T£H
2013 2012
“E-ZF —Z-=F
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate rate
(%) p.a. Maturity HK$'000 (%) p.a. Maturity HK$'000
BEER EER e
FI%(%) ZMA BETR (%) AR BB
Current it I
Other borrowings HEfEE
- secured (note 26(b)) - BHER (HzE26(b)) 2.113.24 2013 176300  2.94-326  2012-2013 136,312
-2-ZF —E-CFF
—T-=%
- secured (note 26(b)) - BHER (Hzt26(b)) 1.90-7.24  On demand 127,206  1.82-724  Ondemand 131,830
REX eSS
303,506 268,142
Group
rEH
2013 2012
—E—-=F —ET——F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Analysed into: DT ‘ ‘
Margin loan borrowings repayable on demand ZBREXREETREREE 127,206 131,830
Other borrowings repayable within one year ER—FRNEEZHEMEE 176,300 136,312
303,506 268,142
Notes: Bt 3
(@)  All borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2013 and 2012 are (@) AEBERZZE—=FK=_T—ZF=A8
denominated in Hong Kong dollars. =T —BHMEBEEEHUEEHE
(b) At 31 March 2013, the Group’'s margin loan borrowings and by RZTE—=F=RA=+—H X%EH
other borrowings of HK$303,506,000 (2012: HK$268,142,000) 7 #303,506,0000 (= F — —F &
are secured by the Group's listed available-for-sale investment #£268,142,000) 2 FEEHREE R
and investments at fair value through profit or loss with HEMEEEEASEERELES AL
aggregate carrying values of approximately HK$1,986,000 B H1,986,000 (ZF — —F B
(2012: HK$17,693,000) and HK$1,380,032,000 (2012: 17,693,0007) 2 E Al i B R E B
HK$891,116,000), respectively (notes 19 and 23). #1,380,032,000. (=T —Z—F : &%

891,116,0007T) 2 i& B 18 2 LA A F (B 7
BRI A MBI (M aE19%23)
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27. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax during the year are as follows:
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i SE B IR
BEEHBEREN 2 ZBINT -

27.

Deferred tax liabilities EEHEEE
Group
AEE
Revaluation of properties
MESH
2013 2012
—E—=F —E-CF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BETIT
At beginning of year REA - 5,523
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 32) HEWSB QT (MsE32) - (5,523)
Gross deferred tax liabilities at 31 March R=ZA=+—HBZEEHIE
BEHEE - -
Deferred tax assets EEBEBEEE
Group
rEE
Temporary difference
related to depreciation
allowances
MEREZEREREE
2013 2012
—E—-=F T 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
At beginning of year REH (47) -
Deferred tax credited to the income statement R AW R K 2 ELEF1E (K
during the year (note 10) F£10) - (47)
Gross deferred tax assets at 31 March —A=1+T—HBZELEHEAE
éiEE%@*E (47) (47)

At 31 March 2013, the Group had tax losses arising in
Hong Kong of approximately HK$1,388,594,000 (2012:
HK$1,611,311,000), subject to the agreement by the Hong
Kong Inland Revenue Department, that are available indefinitely
for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies
in which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets have not been
recognised at the end of the reporting period in respect of
these losses as they have arisen in companies that have been
loss-making for some time or due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams of those companies, and accordingly, it is
not considered probable that taxable profits will be available
against which the tax losses can be utilised.

RZE—=F=ZA=+—H 4AEEBEFE
BEE 2 TIAEBEARXE1,388,594,000
TT(ZZ— % :7%8%1,611,311,0007T)
(BEHEEERBRAR) ZEHIERIEN
ERAAAEREELEBIB L A8 2 RRE
AWMEN - -ARESEEBERZATEE
MZRFRARREBTZEAT 2 ARG
FROR - MU A8 B 7N ] B8 B FE R B v 1) A
AIEN A BIIB BB - FIb RS AR
WESZEEERRELERIBEE -

ﬁ
RE4®
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28. SHARE CAPITAL 28. B
Shares &)
Company
P NN
2013 2012
—E—=F —E-CF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Authorised: JETE
100,000,000,000 (2012: 500,000,000,000) 100,000,000,0000% ( ==
ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each (2012: — — 4 :500,000,000,000
HK$0.01 each) f%) SRR EE B ¥0.057T 2
EER(ZE——F: 8K
H{EE®0.017T) 5,000,000 5,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BEEITRER:
840,337,420 (2012: 1,225,562,371) ordinary ~ 840,337,4200% (ZZE——%F:
shares of HK$0.05 each (2012: HK$0.01 1,225,562,371/%) B R E &
each) B #0.0570 2 E iR
(ZF——%:8RHEE
75 #0.017T) 42,017 12,256
A summary of the movements of the Company’s issued capital RRREBITRARKRG HER 2 ZEHE
and share premium account is as follows: g (N
Share
Number of Issued premium
shares in issue capital account Total
ERTRGHEE CEBETRE RORER BE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
P &% BETT BETT BETT
At 1 April 2011 RZE——FNA—H 4,713,701,431 471,370 1,169,658* 1,641,028
Repurchase of a share EE—-RH (a) M - - -
Capital reorganisation BAEA (b) (3,770,961,144) (461,942) - (461,942)
Issue of new shares BATH IR (0 188,548,057 1,885 36,767 38,652
Exercise of share options TR RRE (d 94,274,028 943 18,120 19,063
At 31 March 2012 and RZE—ZF=A=+—
1 April 2012 AR=E—=F
mA—H 1,225,562,371 12,256 1,224,545* 1,236,801
Rights issue i (e) 2,451,124,742 24,511 220,601 245,112
Share issue expenses W8T X - - (5,935) (5,935)
Repurchase of shares BERR (f) ©) - - -
Capital reorganisation B A E 48 (9) (2,941,349,688) - - -
Acquisition of additional interest Y #E — I B2 A1)
in a subsidiary BIMER (h) 105,000,000 5,250 8,190 13,440
At 31 March 2013 R-E—=%=H
=t+—H 840,337,420 42,017 1,447,401* 1,489,418
* Share issue expenses with an aggregate amount of * A5 %8 5 H1,350,0000T 2 I 1D 3 1T R
HK$1,350,000, which were paid to a subsidiary during the year T (AR EREE T —ZTF=A
ended 31 March 2010 and eliminated in full at consolidation, = t+—HLEFEIZNT-—HEWBAF I
were deducted from the share premium account balance of the RiZa ARK2HEHE) ERAR2BRG
Company. BRI o
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28. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes:

(a)

(@

In February 2012, the Company repurchased one ordinary
share of HK$0.10 on the Stock Exchange at HK$0.051. The
repurchased share was cancelled and, accordingly, the issued
share capital of the Company was reduced by the nominal
value of this share. The difference between the nominal value
of issued capital of the share repurchased and the value of cash
consideration paid was credited to the capital redemption reserve
of the Company.

In March 2012, the Company effected a capital reorganisation
("Capital Reorganisation”) which involved (i) the consolidation
of every five shares with par value of HK$0.10 each into one
consolidated share with par value in the capital of the Company
of HK$0.50 each; (ii) a capital reduction to reduce the par
value of the consolidated share from HK$0.50 to HK$0.01 by
cancellation of the paid-up capital to the extent of HK$0.49 on
each consolidated share; and (iii) the application of the credit
arising from such reduction of approximately HK$461,942,000
towards the distributable reserve of the Company.

The Company allotted and issued 188,548,057 ordinary shares
of HK$0.01 each in March 2012 to an independent third party
at a subscription price of HK$0.255 per share. The subscription
price of approximately HK$48,080,000 less par value of the
ordinary shares allotted and the fair value loss recognised for the
underlying derivative financial instrument was recorded as share
premium of approximately HK$36,767,000.

In March 2012, the subscription rights attaching to 94,274,028
share options that were granted by the Company to its
employees and non-employees during the year ended 31 March
2012 were exercised in full at subscription price of HK$0.189 per
share, resulting in the issue of 94,274,028 new ordinary shares of
HK$0.01 each for a total cash consideration, before expenses, of
approximately HK$17,818,000. The related share option reserve
of HK$1,245,000 was credited to the share premium account
upon the exercise of share options.

In May 2012, the Group issued 2,451,124,742 new shares with
par value of HK$0.01 each at a subscription price of HK$0.10
each under rights issue for a total cash consideration, before
expenses, of approximately HK$245,112,000.

In July 2012 and February 2013, the Company repurchased three
ordinary shares with par value of HK$0.01 each at HK$0.033
each and two ordinary shares with par value of HK$0.05 each
at HK$0.108 each, respectively, on the Stock Exchange. The
repurchased shares were cancelled and, accordingly, the issued
share capital of the Company was reduced by the nominal value
of issued capital of the shares repurchased and the value of cash
consideration paid was credited to the capital redemption reserve
of the Company.

In July 2012, the Company completed a share consolidation
pursuant to which every five issued and unissued shares with par
value of HK$0.01 each were consolidated into one consolidated
share with par value in the capital of the Company of HK$0.05
each.

In March 2013, the Company allotted and issued 105,000,000
ordinary shares with par value of HK$0.05 each as a part of
consideration for the acquisition of additional interest in a
subsidiary. The share price of the Company at the issue date
of these consideration shares was HK$0.128 per share. The
fair value of these ordinary shares allotted of approximately
HK$13,440,000 less par value of the ordinary shares was
recorded as share premium of approximately HK$8,190,000.
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28. IRA ()

GhE

(@) MZZT—ZF=ZR ARAFAEK0.051
LR R P B — R EEE 010 2 E
B - BERGE FrEsl At AQRIE
BITRABERZBRH 2 EERD B2
BHZEETRABERENREREZ
EHOARQABZEABERHE-

b) M-TZE——F=ZF ARAETHRAE
MOTBAEH])  BF: VB ARQ AR
A ERKSREESE 10T 2D
AHAE—REREmEBKSOT YA M
AR (DIRABIR - 45 & PR 1D 2 E{E AR
B0 50T BB #0017 AR AEHE
FRE IR D 2 B R AN GE 55 850.49
T R Gii) i IR AN BIR 2 2 A BR R A B S
461,942,000t AR AR B 2 DB -

(€ ARAAR—_ET——F=AMBERENT
188,548,057 R mEE¥0.017T
Z%‘%%%-%?&%I%E CREE

BERBE 25T - KRN EBN B
& #36,767,000 0 BIRBEH B
48,080,000 T B AC EEB L BREER
MRETESMIAZE RN EEE-

d RZE——FZA AXRFREBEE_=-Z
——FZAZ+-HILFERTHEEER
SEE B 294,274,028 BE I AT I 2 72 B8
EEEHTE REEATRE0.189
T M B 1T94,274,028% H L AR &
BEESE.0I KRG REBRE (X
MRS )4 A% ¥17,818,0007T - 1 F3
BE IS AE R 575 151,245,000 T R BB A HE 7T
FEHFABRDRER-

() NZF-——FARA AKERBHRE
172,451,124,74201 & X @ (8 8 #50.01
LA REE R ERBS0.10
AR HE (MBRAXANAEE
245,112,0007T °

f) RZE——-FLtARZZE—Z=F=-A'K
ARIRB R RIEE =R RAESE
0.017mz E@R (BRMN(E BB %0.033
70) MRS & AR E A A S #0.05 T A T iR
B (SRR MEAE0.108T) - BEKH
sy At ARBMBEEITRADE
BEBRERGONEBITRAEE M
%%WEZETEEH@K'&ETE@’&M%@%&

BRH -

(@ MN-FT——FLA ARAZKENA
OF - Bt SRS REEBK0.01T2
BEBETEAETROEEHAS AKX
f MADB A EREEAREH0.05
JTo

(hy RZE—=ZFZ=ZF ARQRAEE%KET
105,000,000% & f& H &% #0.057C 2 &
B EBE B ARBIMERD
HHRE - AABIRETZERERS B
HBREASRBE0128TL - ZEER
R 2 A FEL)B13,440,0007T ¢
BMETBREE SKERMEENEE
8,190,0007T
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29. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

94

The share option scheme of the Company was approved and
adopted by the shareholders at the extraordinary general
meeting held on 23 August 2002 (the “2002 Scheme”) with
a term of ten years and was expired on 22 August 2012. A
new share option scheme of the Company was approved and
adopted by the shareholders at the annual general meeting
held on 31 August 2012 (the "2012 Scheme”). The 2012
Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years
commencing from 31 August 2012.

The primary purpose of the 2002 Scheme and 2012 Scheme
is to provide participants with the opportunity to acquire
proprietary interests in the Company and to encourage
participants to work towards enhancing the value of the
Company and its shares for the benefit of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole. Further details of the 2012 Scheme
were disclosed in the Company’s circular dated 25 July 2012.

The categories of the participants under the 2002 Scheme and
2012 Scheme are any directors (including executive directors,
non-executive directors and independent non-executive
directors) of the Company and its subsidiaries and employees
of the Group and any advisors, consultants, distributors,
contractors, suppliers, agents, customers, business partners,
joint venture business partners, promoters, service providers to
the Group whom the board of directors of the Company (the
“Board”) considers, in its sole discretion, have contributed or
will contribute to the Group.

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, make an offer to any
participant to take up share options. An offer is deemed to
have been accepted and a share option is deemed to have been
granted and accepted and shall take effect when the duplicate
of the offer letter comprising acceptance of the offer duly
signed by the grantee and the remittance of HK$1 by way of
consideration for the grant thereof is received by the Company.
Share options granted may be exercised during the period as
notified by the Board to each grantee at the time of making
the offer and shall be at any time from the date of grant to the
tenth anniversary thereof.
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29.

BRREtE

BRER-FT-F/ \A-FTZARTZR
RERIA® L RIRAAAE 2 B
B2 =F58)) 8RS+
FR-E-—FNAZTBER R
T-—F A=+ BRANRTEFA
L REEBRIRMA R R —ER R
BB (-2 —F3t8)) - —F——F

ElE - —F A=+ BB+ F
W AEB B AR -
—EE FHER - —FEEMNEN

EEMSENEHABEATE AR
BE THB2RARNEALTARRE
B2 EE SAATRERARETE -
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29. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (cContinued)

The total number of ordinary shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all share options granted under the 2002 Scheme
and 2012 Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the
Company (excluding share options lapsed) must not exceed
10% of the total number of the Company’s ordinary shares
in issue on respective adoption date (the “Scheme Mandate
Limit”). Moreover, the maximum number of ordinary shares
in respect of which share options may be granted to each of
the participants (including both exercised and outstanding
options) under the 2002 Scheme and 2012 Scheme in any
12-month period shall not (when aggregated with any shares
subject to any other share option scheme(s) of the Company)
exceed 1% of the Company’s ordinary shares in issue. The
Company may renew the Scheme Mandate Limit at any time
subject to prior shareholders’ approval in general meeting and
the Stock Exchange granting listing of and permission to deal
in the Company's shares to be issued upon exercise of options
pursuant to the refreshment of the Scheme Mandate Limit.

The subscription price for shares on the exercise of share
options under the 2002 Scheme and 2012 Scheme shall be
determined by the Board in its absolute discretion but in any
event shall not be less than the greatest of: (i) the closing
price of the Company's shares as stated in the daily quotations
sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the date on which a
share option is granted; (ii) the average closing price of the
Company's share as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued
by the Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately
preceding the date on which a share option is granted; and (iii)
the nominal value of the Company’s shares.

As described in note 28(d) and upon the completion of the
Capital Reorganisation, the total number of shares available
for issue under the 2002 Scheme was adjusted to 94,274,028
ordinary shares and the Scheme Mandate Limit under the 2002
Scheme were fully utilised on 28 March 2012.

At 31 March 2013, the total number of shares available for
issue under the 2012 Scheme remained at 73,533,742, being
approximately 9% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at the end of the reporting period. The Scheme Mandate
Limit under the 2012 Scheme are utilised on 16 April 2013 as
further described in note 41(c) to these financial statements.
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= =
29. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued) 29. B AESTE ()
The following share options were outstanding under the 2002 THRBE_ZZ _FEERE 2 BRER
Scheme during the year ended 31 March 2012: HE-_Z-——_F=ZA=+—HLEFEMHKX
it
Number of share options** Price of the Company's shares
BRERA EREARGBER
Immediately
before Immediately
At Granted Exercised  Cancelled Adjustments Date of Exercise Exercise price the date before At exercise
Name or category of beginning during during during during At grant of period of of share  of grant of the exercise date of
participant of year the year the year the year theyear 31 March share options* ~share options options** share options date™* share options
BRE RERRE REOR RERE
SHEARERER B FRRE  FROR FRER  FREE NZAZT-B BRERLBE BREGRS e REAHA BEE~ f1&AH
'000 '000 ‘000 '000 '000 '000 HKS per share  HK$ per share HKS per share  HKS per share
TH Tk Tk Tk Thk Thk BREY BRAE  BRE% BREY
2012
—E--fF
Directors
8%
Ms. Au Shuk Yee, Sue - 1,120 (1,120) - - - 28-3-2012 28-3-2012 to 0.189 0.181 0.177 0.177
ARELL —3-Cf 27-3-2022
ZR-tNR —T-Z%
ZRAZt/H
Z-F--fF
ZA-ttR
Ms. Chow Mun Yee - 1,120 (1,120) - - - 28-3-2012 28-3-2012 to 0.189 0.181 0.177 0.177
P Z3-Cf 27-3-2022
ZRZtNR —E-Z%
ZRAZt/NE
Z-%-C%
ZA-ttA
Mr. Gary Drew Douglas - 1,120 (1,120) - - - 28-3-2012 28-3-2012 to 0.189 0.181 0.177 0.177
Gary Drew Douglas?t & —F-CF 27-3-2022
ZRZtN\R -E-Z%
ZRAZt/E
Z-%-CfF
ZA-ttH
Mr. Frank H. Miu - 1,120 (1,120) - - - 28-3-2012 28-3-2012 to 0.189 0.181 0.177 0.177
BEkE —3-Cf 27-3-2022
ZR-tNR -F-Z%
ZRAZt/E
2-F--fF
ZA-ttH
In aggregate - 4,480 (4,480) - - -

it

Non-employees

*E2

In aggregate - 89,794 (89,794) - - - 28-3-2012 28-3-2012 to 0.189 0.181 0.177 0.177

Eh) ZE-ZFZf 273

ZtAR “F-CF
ZR=tNH
2-%-CF
=A=t++tH

Total

@t - 94,274 (94,274) - - -

Weighted average - HKS0.189  HKS0.189 - - -

exercise price EB0.189T 01897

MEFEHRE

* The vesting period of the share options is from the date of the * It E AR 2 BB B i B AERT =T
grant until the commencement of the exercise period. EERSB AL -

**  The exercise price and the number of the share options are o REITHRSAIIRE T AR FIRAR
subject to adjustment in the case of rights or bonus issues, or H AL e hERREITEERE
other similar changes in the Company’s share capital. BA Taa%-

*** The price of the Company’'s shares disclosed immediately before ok RN EEBRETEARIIZ AR
the exercise date of the share options is the weighted average of MR A7 (B 1% /5 B EE R AR ST (2 B BA AT 2 B A2
the Stock Exchange closing price immediately before the dates on Fr s i & 2 hnitE 5 8-

which the options were exercised.
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29. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (cContinued)

On 28 March 2012, 94,274,028 share options to subscribe
for the ordinary shares in the capital of the Company at an
exercise price of HK$0.189 each were granted by the Company
to employees and non-employees of the Group under the 2002
Scheme and had been fully exercised on the next date. The
94,274,028 share options exercised during the year resulted
in the issue of 94,274,028 ordinary shares of the Company
and new share capital of HK$943,000 and share premium of
HK$16,875,000 (before the transfer of related share option
reserve), as further detailed in note 28(d) to these financial
statements.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during
the year ended 31 March 2012 was estimated as at the date
of grant, using the binomial model, taking into account the
terms and conditions upon which the options were granted.
The values of share options calculated using the binomial
model were subject to certain fundamental limitations, due to
the subjective nature of and uncertainty relating to a number
of assumptions of the expected future performance input to
the model, and certain inherent limitations of the model itself.
The value of an option varies with different variables of certain
subjective assumptions. Any change to the variables used may
materially affect the estimation of the fair value of an option.

The following table lists the inputs to the model used:

Contractual life of options (years)

Exercise price (HK$ per share) TEE (FRAEE)
Dividend yield (%) % 2 2 (%)
Historical volatility (%) 8 1R 18 (%)
Risk-free interest rate (%) 1 3 B R 22 (%)
Exercise multiple T EE

Exit rate RE=

BEREANFH(F)
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Ei?“u”i94 274, ozsf\ﬁﬁﬂxﬁé AR B A
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0.1897T Eﬁ’\EEI’f%lﬁﬁ RERNITHEE
94,274,028 B I #E 18 3£ 1794,274,028%
AN LB WS NI AN S #5943,0007T
T B% 1 3% (B 75 #516,875,0007T (RER =
R ERER)  FBERRSEME®RE
Fff3E28(d) °
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30.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (cContinued)

No share option was granted during the year ended 31 March
2013. The fair value of the share options granted during the
year ended 31 March 2012 was HK$1,245,000, of which
HK$60,000 related to directors of the Company, and the whole
amount was recognised as a share option expense in the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2012.

There were no share options outstanding under the 2002
Scheme and 2012 Scheme as at 31 March 2012 and 2013,
respectively.

29.

BREE (2
HE-_T—=FE=ZA=+—HILEE"
VEENERE REE_ZT——F=1
T+ BLEFEREZEREZAFE
7B 11,245,0007T & 5 #60,0007T £
ARBIEZEAH BELBERNEE_Z
——F A=+ BHLEFENGAPTER
RANERERERS -

JrAp—.S
H - -F4E K-
BTN ZEREMRITE-

—=ER-E-——F=A=+-—
— —F&f

RESERVES 30. f#f#&
(a) Group (a) *=%H
The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements REERAFERBAFRE 2 #EBES
therein for the current and prior years are presented in BREZFHNGEEREHERTZE
the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Bl e
(b) Company (b) AT
Reserves
R
Share Capital
premium  redemption  Contributed Distributable Shareholder's Share option Accumulated
account reserve surplus reserve  contribution reserve losses Total
ROEER EXBEEHE BHRH  UoREE BREEE BRERE 2RESB @z
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Mg BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
At 1 April 2011 RZE——4FRmA-A 1,169,658 485 39,521 895,331 15,000 - (217,357) 1,902,638
Transfer* i - - - (530,000 - - 530,000 -
Capital reorganisation BAEA 28(b) - - - 461,942 - - - 461,942
Issue of new shares BITHR 28(¢) 36,767 - - - - - - 36,767
Equity-settled share option ~ WEZAERRE L 2
arrangement 29 - - - - - 1,245 - 1,245
Exercise of share options ERERE 28(d) 18,120 - - - - (1,245) - 16,875
Loss and total comprehensive AFEHER2EFE
loss for the year ekl - - - - - - (564,106) (564,106)
At 31 March 2012 WZE-—%=A
=1+-A 1,224,545 485 39,521 827,273 15,000 - (251,463) 1,855,361
At 31 March 2012 and RZF--%=f8
1 April 2012 S+-AR-%
—Zf@A-A 1,224,545 485 39,521 827,273 15,000 - (251,463) 1,855,361
Rights issue iz 28(e) 220,601 - - - - - - 220,601
Share issue expenses RABIEY (5,935) - - - - - - (5,935)
Acquisition of additional YE-RHBLAN
interest in a subsidiary BIMER 28(h), 31(0) 8,190 - - - - - - 8,190
Profit and total comprehensive 74 & & H § 2 E i
income for the year NEE - - - - - - 194,808 194,808
At 31 March 2013 WZZT-=%
“A=t-H 1,447,401 485 39,521 827,273 15,000 - (56,655) 2,273,025
* Pursuant to a resolution approved by the board of directors * BERAARESEREE_T—=

of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2012,
HK$530,000,000 was transferred from the Company’s
distributable reserve towards accumulated losses.
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30. RESERVES (continued)

(b)

Company (Continued)

The Company’s contributed surplus represents the
difference between the nominal value of the share capital
issued by the Company and the underlying net tangible
asset value net of pre-acquisition dividends and realised
pre-acquisition investment property revaluation reserve
of subsidiaries which were acquired by the Company
pursuant to the group reorganisation in 1992.

The distributable reserve of the Company represents the
aggregate of the credit arising from (i) the reduction
in the nominal value of the shares from HK$0.10 each
to HK$0.002 each by cancelling HK$0.098 paid up
on each issued share and the cancellation of share
premium account as at 31 October 1998, after a transfer
of HK$607,193,000 towards the elimination of the
accumulated losses of the Company at 31 October 1998;
(ii) the capital reduction during the year ended 31 March
2002; (iii) the capital reorganisation during the year
ended 31 March 2009; (iv) a transfer of HK$530,000,000
towards the accumulated losses of the Company during
the year ended 31 March 2012; and (v) the Capital
Reorganisation of the Company during the year ended 31
March 2012.

The share option reserve comprised the fair value of
share options granted which were yet to be exercised,
as further explained in the accounting policy for share-
based payment transactions in note 2.4 to these
financial statements. The amount was transferred to the
share premium account when the related options were
exercised.
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31. BUSINESS COMBINATION AND 31 ¥EBEHREFERERR S

TRANSACTIONS WITH NON-CONTROLLING

INTERESTS

(a) Initial acquisition and step acquisition of FSL (a) PERREFBF2INRVERERER
In June 2011, the Group acquired a 41% equity interest ﬁA:;——ﬁ/‘—\ﬂ REER—HE
in FSL, a private company primarily engaged in securities SHTRBEREESFM %RE K
brokerage and trading of securities businesses, from an EM#FJ MAARAE EE2REH
independent third party at a cash consideration of HK$20 FRENEBELFEEFEE REREAR
million and FSL then became an associate of the Group. 75 #520,000,0007T ' R &2 & FRE AV AK
The acquisition was part of the Group’'s strategy to RAEBZHERNT - ZREEER
strengthen its financial service businesses. REE MRS FIRFEER 2 RIS H

5

On 19 July 2011 (the “Takeover Date”), the Group RZZE——F+A+HhB (B[
acquired the remaining 59% equity interest in FSL Bl ZxEERRA-—FREREHE
from the same party at a cash consideration of HK$30 HERT59%KRE RERERBEY
million. On the Takeover Date, the Group re-measured 30,000,0007T - AU B - AN & E %
its previously held 41% equity interest in FSL at fair NFEERTEEEANFECRER
value and, in the opinion of the directors, the carrying HA%RE EERB/ENFTEZLR
amount of the previously held 41% equity interest WEHA1 % IR SR (B B H A
in FSL approximated to its fair value on the Takeover HeRAFEMEEGE At WEEHE
Date. Accordingly, no gain or loss in relation to the re- FrrEW S EE -

measurement was resulted.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of REBLENWEB 2 HREENE
FSL as at the Takeover Date were as follows: BAFENT:

Fair value
recognised on
Takeover Date

RukiE B RER
ZATE
Notes HK$'000
k=2 BT T
Property, plant and equipment LE R = & 14 250
Intangible asset EmAE 16 339
Accounts receivable JE YL BR 5k 33,889
Cash and bank balances e RIBITES 65,375
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FENFIE 2 e RE M ERFIE 601
Accounts payable FEHBR X (159)
Other payables and accruals o JE AT SR K FEET B A (2)
Other borrowings Himfg & (50,000)
50,293
Less: Fair value of previously held 41% equity & : BAFH REEH41 %M 1#E
interest in FSL /NS | (20,293)
Consideration for the remaining 59% equity MR EZNREEHH T59%M%
interest in FSL satisfied by cash 2R E 30,000

100 FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED




31. BUSINESS COMBINATION AND 31 ¥BEH REFERERR S
TRANSACTIONS WITH NON-CONTROLLING (%)
INTERESTS (continued)
(a) Initial acquisition and step acquisition of FSL (a) PREREJFHFZIVRBEREBSIE
(Continued) (&)
An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents REEZT——F=A=+—HIEF
during the year ended 31 March 2012 in respect of the E-WEREEs R Re%E
acquisition of FSL is as follows: W2 mAFEATAT
HK$'000
BT T
Cash consideration for the remaining 59% equity FRT59% M E 2 HERE
interest (30,000)
Cash and bank balances acquired Bl 2R RIRITER 65,375
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents included in BEAEREEIMELEZRERE
cash flows from investing activities ZHRERRSEEMRANFRE 35,375
Since the Takeover Date, FSL contributed HK$18,208,000 BRBEUR REBEE_FT——F
to the Group's revenue and profit of HK$15,717,000 ZA=Z+—BLEFE - REF45E
to the Group's consolidated loss for the year ended 31 BAREEZRZERESEESF
March 2012. 5 Bt 75 % 18,208,0007T K F A B
15,717,0007¢ ©
Had the combination taken place at the beginning of EAHREE-_E——F=ZA=1+—
the year ended 31 March 2012, the revenue from FSL AIEFEFITEN REESF 2 WE
and the results of FSL contributed to the Group for the RREFBLHCEFENFAK DRI AR
year would have been HK$21,864,000 and a profit of EEERER21,864,0007T M i FIE
HK$14,419,000, respectively. #14,419,0007T °
(b) Deemed disposal of interest in FSL (b) RIEHERREZRFZ2HER
In October 2011, FSL allotted and issued 15,000,000 R-ZE——F+ A REZE5M—F
new ordinary shares of FSL to an independent third B =5 e & E47715,000,000
party, representing approximately 8.77% of the enlarged G 357 R 8 B ok s e () R W SR 4
issued share capital of FSL, at a cash consideration of A D BITIR A M8.77% A (E
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HK$15,000,000, and the Group's ownership interest
in FSL was decreased from 100% to 91.23% upon
completion of the transaction. The Group recognised
an increase in non-controlling interest of approximately

#%7 #15,000,0007T + 732 5 FEAK
B AKERREES 2 HEEER
FH100%8%E91.23% ° RNEEFERIE

HK$14,629,000 and an increase in distributable reserve gﬁi%ﬁé%%@%MM'&?\'OQOFD
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately l’i{&ﬁl\ m%ﬁ/\ﬁ_ﬁﬁﬂﬂ TR A
HK$371,000. The effect of the change in the Group's 8 #) /8 #371,000 B EZF — =
ownership interest in FSL on the equity attributable to FZA=Z1+T—HLEFE AEERE
owners of the Company during the year ended 31 March LESHEEREREE HARQF
2012 is summarised as follows: A ANEE RS2 T
HK$'000
BEF T
Carrying amount of non-controlling interest recognised = F&RIFIE#E 25 ~ BRI (E (14,629)
Fair value of total consideration received BRAREZAFE 15,000
Difference recognised in distributable reserve AR RIHEA A TEAE 7] 9 Ik (7 i
attributable to owners of the Company RZEH 371
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31.

32.

102

BUSINESS COMBINATION AND

TRANSACTIONS WITH NON-CONTROLLING

INTERESTS (Continued)

(c) Acquisition of additional interest in FSL
In March 2013, the Group acquired an additional 8.77%
equity interest in FSL from an independent third party,
and the Group's ownership interest in FSL was increased
from 91.23% to 100%. The consideration for the
acquisition was satisfied by cash of HK$5,115,000 and
the allotment and issue of 105,000,000 ordinary shares of
the Company as described in note 28(h) to these financial
statements. The carrying amount of the acquired non-
controlling interest in FSL at acquisition was approximately
HK$15,798,000. The Group recognised a decrease in non-
controlling interest of approximately HK$15,798,000 and
a decrease in distributable reserve attributable to owners
of the Company of approximately HK$2,757,000. The
effect of the change in the Group’s ownership interest in
FSL on the equity attributable to owners of the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2013 is summarised as
follows:

Carrying amount of non-controlling interest acquired
Fair value of total consideration paid

Difference recognised in distributable reserve
attributable to owners of the Company

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

During the year ended 31 March 2012, the Group disposed of
its entire equity interest in Future Master Investments Limited,
Freeman Asia Limited, and Freeman Investment Services
Limited and their subsidiaries, which were principally engaged
in property investments, investment holding and insurance
brokerage business, respectively, to independent third parties,
at a total consideration of approximately HK$120,750,000
pursuant to the respective sale and purchase agreements
entered into during the last reporting period. Out of the total
disposal consideration, HK$120,000,000 was satisfied by the
allotment of 200 million new ordinary shares of a purchaser
at an issue price of HK$0.60 each. In the opinion of the
directors, the share issue price of HK$0.60 represented the
fair value of that purchaser’s shares at the date of the disposal
with reference to the subscription prices of other recent share
allotments of that purchaser with other independent third
parties.

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

3. XM REAFEZERESERS

(%)

() EBEREIHES
RZE—=F=ZF AEBME—%
BUE = EBERYEES877%
el MASBERREFS 2 HEE
RE25 0 F191.23%1E = 100% ° U B 1t
& LA £ 78 45,115,000 & it 3% &
277105,000,0004% A8 A &) 3 38 A% %
- HBERZEN SRR WE28(h)
Bl RIEE R A 2 REEHIEE
H&%ﬁ?’lﬁ%ﬁfﬁ 47 A&7 %15,798,000

AR HERIFIEIE R BB L
,M%15,798,0007u DA K2 AN X ) HE
B AL T 2K 7 R 8 58
2,757,000 HE-_ZE—=F = A
=+ HIEFE FAEBRREE
CHEEREREZE HARTEAA
JElE R 2 Bl T

HK$'000
BET T
B EEIE R S 2 BREE 15,798
BEREZAFE (18,555)
RAREHEE AT 5k
EEERZ =5 (2,757)
. HEH B QT

REBE_Z——F=-A=+—HLFE"
AEBR E—EREHERBESBEI L
HE E W M8 E =75 1 & R Future
Master Investments Limited * Freeman Asia
Limited &2 Freeman Investment Services
Limited R B AR MHRE ZEQ
AIDAFEREDMERE REZERRR
b A 40 75 - 2R (B 498 %120,750,000
JC e BB EEH A %120,000,0007T 77
BEF—UEFRETEFREE.0T
fit #200,000,000/% ¥ & AR T A T - &
ERB KL EZREHLHHAEME Y
E-FRETROBEZEZB CREE K
MEITEAEEOTRERZBE T 2R M
REERBHZAFE
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32. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 32. HEMB QA (&)
2012
T 4F
Notes HK$'000
Bt 5 BT T
Net assets disposed of: HEBEFE:
Property, plant and equipment ME - WERZE 14 29,677
Investment properties WEME 15 140,854
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables — TEI 38 - 1% & & E b fE W FTE 1,370
Cash and bank balances 8o KIRTTHE % 3,359
Other payables and accruals HithEN B MESER (3,338)
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings R TNEMEE (69,690)
Tax payable JE A~ 5 18 (3)
Deferred tax liabilities REFRIEEE 27 (5,523)
96,706
Release of exchange fluctuation reserve B [E H R (120)
96,586
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries, net: HEWB QA 2 e F5E:
Attributable to continuing operations JEAE B T 5 265
Attributable to the discontinued operation FEAG 4% I EAC & 37 12 23,899
6 24,164
120,750
Satisfied by: AT 3 A
Cash R 750
Available-for-sale investment AHEERE 19 120,000
120,750
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32.

33.

104

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash equivalents
during the year ended 31 March 2012 in respect of the disposal
of subsidiaries was as follows:

Cash consideration HeNE

Cash and bank balances disposed of HERE RIBITEHE

32.

HEM B QA (2)
RBE_Z-——_F=A=+—RHIEFE"
ﬁ%’ﬁﬂjﬁwgﬁjzfﬁi&ﬁf—rfﬁum
FEBEOMI

2012
—E——F
HK$'000
BT T

750
(3,359)

Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in BT EHBARZRE MRS

respect of the disposal of subsidiaries ZEYREFE

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

The Group had the following major non-cash transactions
during the years ended 31 March 2013 and 31 March 2012:

(@) The consideration of the Group's acquisition of an 8.77%
equity interest in FSL in March 2013 was agreed with the
vendor at HK$16,140,000, which was satisfied by cash of
HK$5,115,000 and allotting and issuing of 105,000,000
ordinary shares with par value of HK$0.05 each. The share
price of the Company at the issue date of these shares
was HK$0.128 per share.

(b) During the year ended 31 March 2012, the Group
subscribed a redeemable convertible note in the principal
amount of HK$250,000,000 issued by an associate of the
Group by setting off the Group's loan receivable from the
associate of HK$250,000,000. The redeemable convertible
note was fully converted into 41,666,667 new ordinary
shares of the associate at HK$6 each during the year
ended 31 March 2012 (note 18).

(c) During the year ended 31 March 2012, a listed equity
investment of HK$10,024,000 included in the Group's
investments at fair value through profit or loss was
repurchased by the listed equity issuer, of which
HK$2,313,000 was satisfied by cash and HK$7,711,000
was satisfied by way of a loan note issued by the listed
equity issuer (note 22).

(d) During the year ended 31 March 2012, the consideration
of HK$20,000,000 of the Group's acquisition of 41%
equity interest in FSL in June 2011 (note 31(a)) was
satisfied by a deposit paid for the acquisition of the
associate during the prior years.

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

33.

(2,609)

TEFRERS
REBEEZFT - =FR-F-ZF=7
ST-RLEFER AREZETR2HRE
KRBT

(@) AEBEBR-_ZT—=F=-AKER
LEELTT%HREMNNREEE S
WE ABE16,140,00070 5 B IR
& B #5,115,0007C & AP 3 & 31T
105,000,0000% & % [ {8 /4 #0.057C
ZEBRTAT c ARRIREBEITHER
MBHREAEEREK128TT.

(b) #é&zi—i—_iﬂﬁer—Eut
FE - AEERELAEE BB E
NAEIBETZABELRNATBREERE K
4 %8 &7 250,000,0007T © £ LA K
HASEBEWZEE AR CERE
#250,000,0007T ° 7] f& [0 A] 2 fx &=
BERBE-_TE——-—F=-A=+—
BIEFERNBHEHRAZEE AR
41,666,667 % IR E B 6L 2
L@k (MIEE18) ©

(0 REE-Z—=-—F=ZA=+—81
FfE . —188%10,024,000T 2 £
R EMAREBEBEZAR
FEVEZIRE  ZERERER £
MR EEITABELR  ERz Emk
BT AR S 812,313,000
T ARNBITEREREHBE
7,711,000t (FHzE22) »

(d REE—Z——F=ZA=+—HLF
B AREER-_ZE——FXANRER
BEHM%E (H:E31)) 2R E
75 %520,000,0007T  BA % B4R JE 5t
W ERRIME N 2R T



34. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

35.

36.

Details of the Group’s interest-bearing other borrowings, which
are secured by the assets of the Group, are included in notes
19, 23 and 26 to these financial statements.

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

As lessee

The Group leases staff quarters and office premises under
operating lease arrangements. The leases for the properties are
negotiated for terms of ranging from one to two years.

The Group had total future minimum lease payments under the
non-cancellable operating leases falling due as follows:

Within one year —FN
In the second year EF

The Company had no operating lease arrangements during the
years ended 31 March 2013 and 2012.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities not
provided for in the financial statements were as follows:
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34. EEEW
AEBIHAEMES (UAEEZE
BRI 2 B RN XS SRR T
1923826 ¢

35. REEN LB
EBEBA
AEERBECLANTHEASEIESR
WAEYE  YERECETHRRE  HHEN
T — WA

AEBRBETAIBBELLHEOER 2 KK
REAEMNFAEBZZHBEROT :

Group

£ EE
2013 2012
—E-=F —E—CZF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT
5,969 4,946
2,631 240
8,600 5,186

HE-_E—=—ER-_FT——F#=R=+—
BIEEE RATW MK LTBLZH -

36. RAREE
RIMEIF S EER S RETIEBE Y

IRBENT:
Group Company
rEE ¥ NVNE|
2013 2012 2013 2012

—E-=f - ZEB-=F —FT—=F

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

B¥FRT ABRTxT B¥TR AE¥TE

Guarantees given to banks in MAKEAIHEERE

connection with facilities B v BEBERR

granted to entities owned by & R ER1T1E H ER

the Group's available-for-sale

investment - 85,141 - 85,141
As at 31 March 2012, the banking facilities granted to entities RZE—ZF=RA=+—H ZAEEM

owned by the Group’s available-for-sale investment subject to
guarantees given to banks by the Group were utilised to the
extent of approximately HK$64,516,000. These guarantees
were fully released during the year.

RITRUERARE  NEER TAHY
EREFMBREZERCERRITRE X
B8 A48 %64,516,000T - Z FERE
RFREBARER -
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37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 37. BERXR S

(a) In addition to the transactions and arrangements detailed (a) BHRBEYBMEEMI TR
elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had SRZHIN  REBPRAF E HEEE
the following transactions with related parties during the FTBEUTRS:
year:

2013 2012
—E—-=F —ET——F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BT 5 BT T BT T
Associates (including their BENR (BEEEZME
subsidiaries): NI
Loan interest income B R B A (i) - 7,897
Loan interest expense BERAEREZ (i) 109 -
Commission and brokerage fees REFHEEZfe K&
from securities dealings Ll A (iii) 1,329 1,060
Commission fee (SR ON (iv) 2,425 -
Margin loan interest income FREZF WA (v) 1,688 -~
Margin loan interest expense FRESRFEMZ (vi) - 15
Rental expenses Mefx (vii) 3,963 -
Notes: B 5
(i)  The loan interest income arose from a loan of (i ERFekARAREE—Z—=

HK$250,000,000 granted to an associate of the Group FZRA=Z+—HIEFERAEHE

(iii)

106

during the year ended 31 March 2012. The loan was
unsecured, bore interest at 2% over the Hong Kong dollar
prime lending rate per annum as quoted by The Hongkong
and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited and was fully
settled during the year ended 31 March 2012 by setting
off the subscription price payable by the Group for a
redeemable convertible note in the principal amount of
HK$250,000,000 issued by the associate. This redeemable
convertible note was fully converted into shares of the
associate during the year ended 31 March 2012.

The loan interest expense arose from a loan of
HK$40,000,000 granted by a subsidiary of an associate
of the Group during the current year. The loan was
unsecured, bore interest at 5.25% per annum and was
fully settled during the current year.

The commission and brokerage fees were paid to certain
subsidiaries of associates of the Group for securities
brokerage services rendered. The terms and conditions
associated with the dealing of securities were made
according to the terms and conditions offered to external
customers of those entities.
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(ii)

(iii)

—EBELAABRENERSEE
250,000,0007T - B3R A EE IR - 17
BB LBELCRITERATMRE
TLREBRFRMN2%WHEF RS
REBEEZZ—=—F=A=+—8H
IHFE BREEAEEMBH LR
A8 1T 7 AN & R 250,000,000
TT 2 7] B [5] A #2 A% AR 1 e 2 R
BE - EHAREEE LA ER A
BREBERBE-_T——F=A
S+ ALEFERERERARE
RNEVZ A o

EXMERIRE S5
40,000,000t 2 B % £ E XA
RNEE - E R ZHEARRN
RNEERE - WAEIKIF  RER R
5.25%5F B R B RAFEANBEE
jgo

MEHESELERE N TAREE
BENRZETHERRANMAER
BILER -EFEEWGER RGN
AERAZEREIAEP RENG
BB ARAEVEH ©



37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(Continued)

(a)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

The commission fee was paid to a subsidiary of an
associate. The terms and conditions associated with the
underwriting services were made according to the terms
and conditions offered to external customers of that entity.

The margin loans advanced to a subsidiary of an associate
of the Group during the current year amounted to
approximately HK$51,688,000 as at 31 March 2013, bear
interest at 12% per annum, and are repayable on demand.

The margin loans advanced from certain subsidiaries of
an associate of the Group were secured by certain of
the Group's investments at fair value through profit or
loss with an aggregate carrying amount of approximately
HK$34,000,000 as at 31 March 2012, bore interest at 5%
per annum, and were repayable on demand.

The rental expenses were related to leasing of the Group's
office premises from certain subsidiaries of an associate
of the Group, of which rental were charged at monthly
fixed amounts and determined with reference to the open
market conditions.

Compensation of key management personnel of the
Group:

Short term employee benefits EHEER
Post-employment payments RIKEF

Equity-settled share option expense

Total compensation paid to key EmMFrEERAESNZ
management personnel 45 B

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in
note 8 to these financial statements.
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37. BELFXR B (#£)

(a)

(b)

IR E R 2 X

(%)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

BeBEADINF-—HBELRZ
B /88 2~ A) o B2 85 AR 75 48 B 2 16 AR
RIGHTIRBERZERZINEER
Rt R R GRS -

RAFER MALE-HEE2ER
AzWBRARBN ZFRER R
T -ZHF=ZA=Z+-BHRE
#51,688,0007T * 12 F F T 12%5t
B UARBRERE-

AAEE—HBERRZETWE
RABNZHBRENR BHAEEE
TEBEFUAFEINEZRE
EER- R -_T——FE=/A=+—
B - IR #{E 4 A 7% 34,000,000
TL R FEFES%ET B WAEKREK

B

s
i

HE X EmAEE—HEE AR
ZETHBLAREERERRER
MERE EThHEBARERK
B W 2ZEAMTSIEREE -

AEBEITREEARZHM:

2013 2012
—E-=F —E——F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
5,216 5,654

112 111

- 60

5,328 5,825

EEHME - THBRARZENH
HARKIFES ©
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 38. ZEEHAzcEMIA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RBERR SEECERMIT A ZERE
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as W
follows:
2013 Group
—E-= rEH
Financial assets
cRMEE
Financial
assets at
fair value
through
Available- profit or
for-sale loss
financial - held for Loans and
asset trading receivables Total
FiRiB
AR A
FIERZ
AHEE 2HEE =953
TRIEE —HIFEE  EHHRIA Bt

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
ARETT ARTRT ABTT ABTT

Available-for-sale investment AHEEERE 1,986 - - 1,986
Note receivable FE U E & - - 7,711 7,711
Accounts receivable & W AR 3R - - 136,886 136,886
Loans receivable FEULE K - - 6,034 6,034
Financial assets included in BRERENZRE ek

prepayments, deposits and other — E b B Ut 718 ~ 4 &t

receivables BE - - 1,426 1,426
Investments at fair value through & 3@ 18 25 A A FE S BE

profit or loss & - 1,380,032 - 1,380,032
Cash and bank balances Re RIRITAER - - 180,594 180,594

1,986 1,380,032 332,651 1,714,669

Financial liabilities

£ 3 -Ri
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
R A
ZERmEesE
HK$'000
BT T
Accounts payable FETRR R 11,853
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals £ ¥EH E /b fE 5B K g =1 &
ZEBEIE 1,362
Interest-bearing other borrowings FFEHMEER 303,506
316,721
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 38.

(Continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as
follows: (continued)

BB SRR A

31 March 2013 —ZE—=#=H=+—H
BEESN 2@ T E (&)

RBEHR SERZ2EMTAZKEAE
W (&)

2012 Group (Continued)
—E——F KEBE(£F)
Financial assets
SREE
Financial
assets at
fair value
through
Available- profit or
for-sale loss
financial - held for Loans and
assets trading receivables Total
FEiRiB
AR F{E
Rz ®
A E BEE— Bk
SREE RIEER FE WK IE HEr
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T BT
Available-for-sale investments A ERE 137,693 - - 137,693
Note receivable FE U E 1B - - 7,711 7,711
Accounts receivable JE Y BR 3R - - 42,365 42,365
Loans receivable FEULE 5K - - 2,007 2,007
Financial assets included in BRERENFRIE ke Rk
prepayments, deposits and other  H b fEUFIE 2 £ F@h
receivables BE - - 1,628 1,628
Investments at fair value through & 3B18 25 A A FEP B
profit or loss ZIgE - 891,116 - 891,116
Cash and bank balances Be MIRTT4 - - 235,881 235,881
137,693 891,116 289,592 1,318,401
Financial liabilities
SREE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
BREBERAE 2
SEas
HK$'000
BT
Accounts payable FERBRR 2,304
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals /£ 3E 7 E b B~ 3018 I B 5+ B
ZEMARE 1,961
Interest-bearing other borrowings FFEHMEER 268,142
272,407
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 38. REERA 2EMT A ()
(Continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RBERR SEECERTAZERE
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as T ()

follows: (continued)

Company AT
Financial assets
SREE
2013
—E—-=F
Available-
for-sale
financial Loans and
asset receivables Total
A HE BERE
cREE EHRRE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETr BETx
Available-for-sale investment A ERE 120,000 - 120,000
Due from subsidiaries FE U /B8~ Rl FIE - 2,166,661 2,166,661
Other receivables H b U SR IB - 15 15
Cash and bank balances Re RIBTTHE R - 2,440 2,440
120,000 2,169,116 2,289,116
2012
—E-—F
Available-for-sale investment AEHERE 120,000 - 120,000
Due from subsidiaries JE Wt /B8 & B3R IE - 1,606,903 1,606,903
Other receivables Hoth JE U B IB - 245 245
Cash and bank balances He RIRTTHE - 113,123 113,123
120,000 1,720,271 1,840,271
Financial liabilities
SREE
2013 2012
—E—-=F —ET——F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Financial liabilities at amortised cost: BHER A SR E
Due to subsidiaries FEHB B A R 3B 6,753 4,785
Financial liabilities included in other payables B 4& X H ith fE [~ 5B I fE 5T &
and accruals BzemamE 143 1,142
6,896 5,927
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39. A FERQIFEDIREE

AEBRARTDEMIAZETAERLRAT

31 March 2013

39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s and the

Company's financial instruments are as follows: (ER NS
Group rEHE
Carrying amounts Fair values
REE AF¥E
2013 2012 2013 2012
—EB-=F T ZB-—-=F —T—=—%F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT A%TT AT ABET
Financial assets SEEE
Available-for-sale investments AHEEERE
— at fair value —BATFE 1,986 137,693 1,986 137,693
Accounts receivable JE 48 BR K 136,886 42,365 136,886 42,365
Loans receivable JE W & 3K 6,034 2,007 6,034 2,007
Note receivable i 7,711 7,711 7,711 7,711
Financial assets included in BRERENFRIE  Ze R
prepayments, deposits and HMEWHIE 22/
other receivables BE 1,426 1,628 1,426 1,628
Investments at fair value through &8 1825 A A FEF B
profit or loss ZIRAE 1,380,032 891,116 1,380,032 891,116
Cash and bank balances & RIRITAEER 180,594 235,881 180,594 235,881
Financial liabilities SREE
Accounts payable FETER X 11,853 2,304 11,853 2,304
Financial liabilities included in BEREMENRER
other payables and accruals EtERzsmBE 1,362 1,961 1,362 1,961
Interest-bearing other borrowings s+ BHMEE 303,506 268,142 303,506 268,142
Company AT
Carrying amounts Fair values
BREE AF¥E
2013 2012 2013 2012
—=E—-= B ZB-Z=F —ZT——-fF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT A%TT AT BETT
Financial assets SREE
Available-for-sale investment AHEEERE
— at fair value AT E 120,000 120,000 120,000 120,000
Due from subsidiaries JRE W B /B8 1~ RIS IR 2,166,661 1,606,903 2,166,661 1,606,903
Other receivables Ho4th jE W 3k IB 15 245 15 245
Cash and bank balances Be RIRTTHE 2,440 113,123 2,440 113,123
Financial liabilities SREE
Due to subsidiaries JE 1<} BfY B8 2 R) 3178 6,753 4,785 6,753 4,785
Financial liabilities included in BEREMENRIER
other payables and accruals EtERzsRBE 143 1,142 143 1,142
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39.

112

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

(Continued)

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in
a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a
forced or liquidation sale.

The fair values of cash and bank balances, accounts receivable,
loans receivable, accounts payable, financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, financial liabilities
included in other payables and accruals, and amounts due
from/to subsidiaries approximate to their carrying amounts
largely due to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of listed investments are based on quoted
market price. The fair value of unlisted investments have been
estimated using valuation techniques based on observable
inputs, which have a significant effect on the recorded fair
value, either directly or indirectly. The directors believe that the
estimated fair values resulting from the valuation technique,
which are recorded in the consolidated statement of financial
position, and the related changes in fair values, which are
recorded in other comprehensive income, are reasonable, and
that they were the most appropriate values at the end of the
reporting period.

Fair value hierarchy
The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and
disclosing the fair values of financial instruments:

Level 1: fair values measured based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2: fair values measured based on valuation techniques for
which all inputs which have a significant effect on the
recorded fair value are observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3: fair values measured based on valuation techniques for
which any inputs which have a significant effect on the
recorded fair value are not based on observable market
data (unobservable inputs)
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39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 39. AR ERDFEETHRERE &)

(Continued)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) AP EDIREE(EF)
Assets measured at fair value: URFEGFTEZEE:
Group
REE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
- E_E E=E et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETTT ABETRT ABTx  AETx
As at 31 March 2013: RZFE—=4F
=H=+—H:
Available-for-sale investment A ERE 1,986 - - 1,986
Investments at fair value through & BBz AR FEIE
profit or loss A 1,372,447 7,585 - 1,380,032
1,374,433 7,585 - 1,382,018
As at 31 March 2012: R-FE——4F
=A=+—Ha:
Available-for-sale investments AHEERE 17,693 120,000 - 137,693
Investments at fair value through & @18z A A FEFEE
profit or loss s - 885,211 5,905 - 891,116
902,904 125,905 - 1,028,809
Company
PN
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
B =y = $=E et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETTT EBETR ABTxX AET
As at 31 March 2013: R-F—=Z4F
=A=+—H:
Available-for-sale investment A ERE - 120,000 - 120,000
As at 31 March 2012: RZF—Z4F
=A=+—Ha:
Available-for-sale investment AEHERE - 120,000 - 120,000
The Group and the Company did not have any financial R =ZFR T —F=ZF=+—
liabilities measured at fair value as at 31 March 2013 and 2012. B ANEERARELETEARFER
EMEmasE-
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value RER B-EERE _ERILEEEEM
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers NEEFE NESE-EE AE DT
into or out of Level 3 (2012: Nil). AAFE(ZE——F )
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40.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise interest-
bearing other borrowings and cash and bank deposits. The
main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance
for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other
financial assets and liabilities such as accounts receivable,
loans receivable, a note receivable, financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, investments at
fair value through profit or loss, available-for-sale investments,
accounts payable, and financial liabilities included in other
payables and accruals, which mainly arise directly from its
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and equity price
risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees policies for
managing each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to its interest-bearing financial assets
and liabilities. Interest-bearing financial assets are mainly loans
receivable and bank deposits primarily at floating interest
rates which are mostly short term in nature whereas financial
liabilities are mainly other borrowings at floating interest rates.
The Group's policy is to obtain the most favourable interest rate
available.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group's profit/(loss) before tax (through the
impact on floating rate bank deposits, loans receivable and
borrowings) and the Group’s equity.
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

2013 —E-=
Hong Kong dollar B

Hong Kong dollar ok

2012 —E-CF
Hong Kong dollar s

Hong Kong dollar B

* Excluding retained profits/accumulated losses

Credit risk

The Group's major exposure to credit risk relates to accounts
receivable, loans receivable, a note receivable, bank balances,
available-for-sale investments, investments at fair value through
profit or loss, and other receivables arises from default of
the counterparties, with a maximum exposure equal to the
carrying amounts of these instruments. The Group’s loans and
accounts receivable arise from the ordinary course of business
of the Group and are closely monitored by the directors on an
ongoing basis. The Company was also exposed to credit risk
through the granting of financial guarantees, further details of
which are disclosed in note 36 to these financial statements.
Further quantitative data in respect of the Group's exposure
to credit risk arising from loans and accounts receivable are
disclosed in notes 20 and 21, respectively, to these financial
statements.

Notes to Financial Statements

BB SRR A

31 March 2013 —F—=#=H=+—H

0. EEKEEBEEBE &)

FEmB (Z)
Group
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease) Increase/
in basis in profit  (decrease)
points  before tax in equity”
BBt A& F

HEsm/ i, REREM
(R2) (R ) (RA) "
HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BET T

25 (715) -
(25) 715 -

Increase/ Decrease/
(decrease) (increase) Increase/

in basis inloss  (decrease)
points  before tax in equity”
BB ATER

2,/ WD,/ M
(R2) (#m) (R
HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BET T

25 (188) -
(25) 188 -

* TERERBEF,REER

FERR

AEERHTENEL T REERRE
MR R E R BKFEE RITHE
7o AHEERE  BRBENATFEIR
ZEREREMEYFIRER  E&RARR
ERRETAZEREE AEEZRKE
AEEREAEE - REBBRETFELE
THEEKEBRTEE ARATRRN
MBHERMEBEERR E£—-FFER
ZEMBHRRMERE - FRAEER
ERLEBESRSIBZEERRZE—F
BEMD IR ZFH MR T20R21%

E‘go
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 40. iR EKRETEEEHEHKE &)
AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk REESER

The Group's liquidity risk is minimal in the current year and is REBRFRNzZABESRARER W@
managed by matching the raising of loans or equity funding to BERIBRABREERNBARSFTIME
cover expected cash demands. The Group's policy is to regularly B-AEBBRATEHEERERER
monitor current and expected liquidity requirements and its MBESTERKRERBREERRZL  UER
compliance with lending covenants to ensure that it maintains HRENEHE NENERHEERZ
sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in mEEEHE R

the short and long term.

The maturity profile of the financial liabilities as at the end of RBEHRR @RBERSHRITRNR
the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted ZEEBERET

payments, is as follows:

Group
rEH
Within one year or on demand
—FHLRFRER
2013 2012
—E—=F —E——F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Accounts payable FEER X 11,853 2,304
Financial liabilities included in other payables BREREMENFERETE
and accruals AzemafE 1,362 1,961
Interest-bearing other borrowings EEMESR 304,383 268,816
Guarantees given to banks in connection with ~ BLZAREE AT HEREFHEA
facilities granted to entities owned by the FREREE MmRRITHE
Group's available-for-sale investment R (KiFE36)
(note 36) - 64.516
317,598 337,597
Company
P NN
Within one year or on demand
—FHLRFRER
2013 2012
—E—=F —E——F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T ok e
Due to subsidiaries RN E 6,753 4,785
Financial liabilities included in other payables BEREMENTIERETE
and accruals HzesmaE 143 1,142
Guarantees given to banks in connection with ~ BLZAR R B AT HEREFEA
facilities granted to entities owned by the ZEBERBEMMIRITIE
Company'’s available-for-sale investment H R (KiFE36)
(note 36) - 64,516
6,896 70,443
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity
securities decrease as a result of changes in the levels of
equity indices and the value of individual securities. The Group
is exposed to equity price risk arising from individual equity
investments classified as trading equity investments (note
23) and available-for-sale investments (note 19). The Group's
listed investments are either listed on the Stock Exchange or
Singapore Exchange Limited and are valued at quoted market
prices at the end of the reporting period.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every
5% change in the fair values of the equity investments and
convertible notes to which the Group has significant exposure
at the end of the reporting period, with all other variables held
constant and before any impact on tax. For the purpose of this
analysis, for the available-for-sale equity investment, the impact
is deemed to be on the available-for-sale investment revaluation

Notes to Financial Statements

BB SRR A

31 March 2013 —F—=#=H=+—H

0. EEKEEBEEBE &)

% 1B 4% L B

P A (B A% [ B 1 el 170 S A 8 BRK S K {8 )
EFEEEHEUBRABHFAFERIZ
Rig-ARBzBREBERRBRKEDES
BREEKRE (ME2) RAHEERE
(KIEE19) 2 @RI AR & - R B 2 b7
BREDHEBMZ AR INKBELRZHAE
RAR LM REEARATIGREE -

AT RBERAEERRERRAZTEX
Rl 2 R E RAT R R R A EE S
BEYPSRIHBRE  EFBRRABEME
B R ARG MERREZE - A
DMME HAHHEREREZFER
BREHLEREEHFBZFE I
Bt A EFERERZRESFAER

reserve and no account is given for factors such as impairment
which might impact the income statement.

Carrying Change in
amount of profit/(loss) Change
investments before tax in equity*
BRELATRR
REZREE (BB 28 ERBE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT
2013 —ET—=F
Investments listed in: "EZ Es:
- Hong Kong - held-for-trading — BB -FHEE=E 1,355,049 67,753 -
- Hong Kong — available-for-sale —BE-THEE 1,986 - 99
- Singapore — held-for-trading — N -BIEEE 17,398 870 -
Unlisted investments at fair value EEMEE HAFE
— Convertible note — AR R 7,585 379 -
2012 —T——F
Investments listed in: A&z LTk
- Hong Kong - held-for-trading —BE-RBEEER 871,281 43,564 -
- Hong Kong — available-for-sale —BE-THEE 17,693 - 885
- Singapore - held-for-trading — I —BHEEE 13,930 697 -
Unlisted investments at fair value EEMRE HRAFE
— Convertible notes — Al AR Rk 5,905 295 -
— Available-for-sale —AIftHE 120,000 - 6,000
* Excluding retained profits/accumulated losses * TRERG A RHEEE
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 40. iR EKRETEEEHEHKE &)

AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are
to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue
new shares. The Group is not subject to any externally imposed
capital requirements except for certain subsidiaries engaged
in securities dealing and broking businesses and corporate
finance advisory services, which are regulated entities under the
Hong Kong Securities and Futures Commission (“SFC”) and a
subsidiary, which is registered under the Hong Kong Insurance
Companies Ordinance (“ICO"), which are required to comply
with the respective minimum capital requirements of the SFC
and the ICO. No changes were made in the objectives, policies
or processes for managing capital during the years ended 31
March 2013 and 31 March 2012.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which
is interest-bearing other borrowings divided by the equity
attributable to owners of the Company. The gearing ratios as at
the end of the reporting period were as follows:

Interest-bearing other borrowings FFEEMEE

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

Gearing ratio BELE

FREEMAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION LIMITED

ARBVEE ARG HED

EXEE
AEEEAER T EARRREALH
IRBRERNRBBREZERL X
X FEEG R R R A ERAEE-

AEBHREBELSEMR LB RBBEEE 2
EREEEEEERNEBAUEHAE A
HRIABREREE NEBE AR
HFREZIRE MR RRER AN EETT
FRD - BRUEEFHFEERCALEREAD
E¥REBEMRRBEcETHBRAR (AR
BEEESFLHEESHERZEG ([BE
EREZER) UL —HBREEER
& N E B (TR 2 RMEH ] ) 72 8 2 M
BRF ARABESRRBRAFIKNZ
SIEE AR TN NEE I SRR INB
BMZERRE- RBE_T—=F=H
—t-HARZE——-—F=A=1+—HIW
BEERN AEBWEREEEAEREH
2 B

AEBBBEELEREEELA BELX
Wt BEMEERARNRGHE AE(L#E
wmatE o NBERR  AEBZEEL XN

T
Group
rEE
2013 2012
—E-=F —E—CZF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T
303,506 268,142
2,499,922 1,935,487
12.1% 13.9%




41. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the
following significant events of the Group occurred after the end
of the reporting period:

42,

43,

a)

In December 2012, the Company announced its intention
to effect a capital reorganisation which included a
share consolidation of every ten shares with par value
of HK$0.05 each into one consolidated share with par
value of HK$0.50 and a capital reduction to reduce the
par value of the consolidated share from HK$0.50 each
to HK$0.01 each by cancellation of the paid-up capital
to the extent of HK$0.49 on each consolidated share.
The capital reorganisation became effective in May
2013. The authorised share capital of the Company of
HK$5,000,000,000 divided into 100,000,000,000 shares
of HK$0.05 each was adjusted to 500,000,000,000
shares of HK$0.01 each upon completion of capital
reorganisation.

In December 2012, the Company also announced its
intention to conduct a rights issue and proposed to
issue 191,187,728 rights shares at a subscription price
of HK$0.85 per rights share. Total net proceeds of
approximately HK$155.9 million are expected to be
raised from the rights issue. The rights issue has not yet
completed up to the approval date of these financial
statements.

In April 2013, the Group granted options to independent
third parties to subscribe for 73,533,740 ordinary shares
under the new share option scheme adopted on 31
August 2012, and 73,533,740 new shares with par
value of HK$0.05 each were issued upon the exercise of
those options at an exercise price of HK$0.114 per share
subsequent to the year end.

In May 2013, 42,067,480 new shares with par value of
HK$0.05 each were allotted and issued at a subscription
price of HK$0.10 per share to independent third parties
under the general mandate granted by the shareholders
of the Company to the Directors at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 31 August 2012.

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

Certain comparative amounts have been restated to conform
with the current year’s presentation. The directors consider that
such restatements allow a more appropriate presentation of the
Company'’s state of affairs and/or better reflect the nature of
the transactions/balances.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 28 June 2013.
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41. EHESEE
BREMERE LM T REE - RS
KR REEREUNTEEEE:

42,

43,

R-E——F+ - AQAIEH
BEHETBRAER P BEES TR
R EEBH0.05T 2 K &6t 5A
— I EEB 050 2 A HED:
R EITIR ARG AN AR EHEE
B & GFR% 10 B0 2 IR A 7B #0.497T -
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TLHIB 2B 0.0 - ASEHANR =
E—=ZFRAAER-ARBET’
7N /&7 #5,000,000,0007T * R % 5
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0.05 TR MR AR BT IE -
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EMBRETHE WEZET
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REZZE—Z=ZFNA AEEREN=
T——F NAZ+—HEANFER
EETE MBYE = AR ERE
LATRES73,533, 74008 3@ A% - T A 4F
EHERE ZSHEREETE #EH
%£9773,533, 7400 E R EE A B
0.05TT 2 ¥ty 1TEEARTRBE
0.1147T °
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Five Year Financial Summary

T FEMBEME

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years,
as extracted from the published audited financial statements and
restated/reclassified/re-presented as appropriate, is set out below.

AEBROREMBRFEIRKENREE  BE
ForEtEm 2 R (BikA 2 A EELZUT
BRUVEEEN " EHHEEMHNE (NE
)BT

E 4
Year ended 31 March
BE=R=1t-HLFE

RESULTS

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
—E-=f =T =ZZ——F ZZT-ZTF ZTThF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BET T BET T BT T BET T
CONTINUING OPERATIONS SEREER
REVENUE g 75,701 8,759 82,163 165,573 5,974
Profit/(loss) before tax BREADER (BE) 329,214 (662,335) (173,777 297,929 (411,315)
Income tax expense FTiSHi < (1,792) 278 (1,159) (4,855) (1,112)
Profit/(loss) for the year from FABELEELZ
continuing operations wH (EE) 327,422 (662,057) (174,936) 293,074 (412,427)
DISCONTINUED OPERATION RIEREEK
Profit/(loss) for the year from the #RIFEZ %K 2 FR
discontinued operation w@H, (EE) - 24,134 3,438 10,786 (17,921)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR  ERER/ (E18) 327,422 (637,923) (171,498) 303,860 (430,348)
Attributable to: THIATFE:
Owners of the Company VN/NEIEF N 327,502 (639,172) (189,530) 297,486 (430,348)
Non-controlling interests FEE R = (80) 1,249 18,032 6,374 -
327,422 (637,923) (171,498) 303,860 (430,348)
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING EE BBEURFEEZERESR
INTERESTS
As at 31 March
R=BA=+—8
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
—E-= —E-—-F —E——% ZE-%F —LTTNF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BET T BET T BT T BET T
TOTAL ASSETS EELH 2,822,294 2,228,446 2,851,884 2,714,280 1,199,190
TOTAL LIABILITIES aBELH (322,372) (277,081) (350,060) (673,270) (118,330)
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS ~ 3E3Zp&fE s - (15,878) - (512,788) -
2,499,922 1,935,487 2,501,824 1,528,222 1,080,860
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